

Department of Business Administration FEKN90, Business Administration Examensarbete på Civilekonomprogrammet Spring 2015

Shifting the Food System Paradigm

A case study of food purchasing in Los Angeles

Authors

Louise Klintner

Johan Fred

Supervisor

Thomas Kalling

Acknowledgements

We would like to extend our deepest gratitude to those individuals who have contributed to the completion of this thesis. Thank you Thomas Kalling for your expert guidance and support throughout the research process. Thank you Mayor Antonio Villaraigosa and Paula Daniels for taking the valuable time to provide us with insights from a governmental perspective. Thank you Alexa Delwiche, Jill Overdorf, Joann Lo and Colleen McKinney for all the time and help you dedicated to providing us with insights on the Los Angeles Food Policy Council and the Good Food Procurement Policy. Finally, thank you Anthony Holland for all your assistance, it is much appreciated.

Abstract

Malnourishment, food insecurity, food swamps and obesity. These are only a few of the detrimental effects of the current food system, a product of industrialization and path dependence within unsustainable practices. As sustainability issues in general, the inherent complexity that the Los Angeles food system is characterized by requires collective action by stakeholders from across the public, private and community sectors. A paradigm shift where sustainably produced, high quality food is both supplied and demanded is essential for the development of a sustainable food system; one where healthy and affordable food is accessible to all societies' communities. A sustainable food system is not unobtainable. It does however require dedication and participation, and perhaps first and foremost: coordination. The Los Angeles Food Policy Council is a non-governmental organization that works effectively with initiatives to address food system issues in the Southern California region. An example of such an initiative is the Good Food Procurement Policy, which can be regarded as one of the most comprehensive and successful food procurement policies in the United States, in which the Los Angeles Food Policy Council coordinates actors in a collaboration toward developing a sustainable food system. The Los Angeles Food Policy Council and the Good Food Procurement Policy thus provide for an eminent case to study in order to address the purpose of this thesis, namely to increase the understanding of the mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations toward the development of sustainable food systems. In order to address that purpose, a qualitative case study was conducted where a framework was constructed through pattern matching of theoretical and empirical data. The theoretical data were, due to a gap in the research, gathered through a synthesis of the four areas: cross-sector collaboration theory, NGO theory, sustainable food supply chain theory, and coordination theory. The empirical data was collected through interviews conducted with individuals that provided valuable insights. The mechanisms found to be most relevant are; organizational characteristics of the NGO, knowledge-sharing about sustainable food, organizational characteristics of the collaboration, path dependence, communication and information-sharing, and financial resource dependence.

Key words: sustainability, cross-sector collaborations, NGOs, sustainable food systems, coordination mechanisms

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	3
1. Introduction	6
1.1. Background and Problematization	
1.2. Purpose	
2. Literature Review	
2.1. Appellations and definitions of collaborations	
2.2. Different Perspectives on Collaborations	
2.3. The Phases of Collaborations	
2.4. Factors that affect the potential success of collaborations	
2.4.1. Coordination mechanisms	
2.4.1.1. Experience, trust and routines	
2.4.1.2. Organizational Culture	
2.4.1.3. Communication between partners	
2.4.1.4. Resource dependence	
2.4.1.5. Organizational structure, governance and decision-making i	
collaborationg	
2.5. Theoretical Framework	
3. Methodology	
3.1. Research Approach	
3.2. Research Design	
3.2.1. Qualitative Case Study	
3.3. Case Selection	
3.3.1. Selection of interviewees	
3.3.1.1. Respondents	
3.3.1.2. Sampling	
3.4. Data Collection	
3.4.1. Secondary Data Collection	
3.4.2. Primary Data Collection	
3.4.2.1. Qualitative Interviews	
3.5. Method for presenting empirical data	
3.6. Method for analysis	
3.7. Reliability and validity	
3.7.1. Reliability	
3.7.2. Validity	
4. Empirical Findings	20
4.1. Los Angeles	
4.2. LA Food Policy Council and the Good Food Purchasing Policy	
4.2. LA Food Foncy Council and the Good Food Furchasing Foncy	
4.3.1. Experience, trust and routines	
4.3.1.1. Prior experience	
4.3.1.2. Trust	
4.3.1.3. Routines, habits and cognitive patterns in the individual	
organizations	31
4.3.2. Organizational culture	

4.3.2.1. Culture, values, norms and principles	31
4.3.2.2. Aligned goals and objectives between partners	
4.3.3. Communication between partners	
4.3.3.1 Communication	
4.3.4. Resource Dependence	35
4.3.4.1. Resource dependence	35
4.3.4.2. Knowledge sharing	
4.3.4.3. Farm Size, technical rigidities and farmers' lack of fin	
4.3.5. Organizational structure, governance and decision-making	
collaboration	
4.3.5.1. Organizational structure of the collaboration	
4.3.5.2. Power distribution between partners	
4.3.5.3. Participatory decision-making between partners	
4.4. Other mechanisms	
4.4.1. Champions	
4.4.2. Contracts	
4.4.3. Characteristics of the NGO	
4.4.3.1. Organizational culture of the NGO	
4.4.3.2. Organizational structure of the NGO	
4.5. Summary of Empirical Findings	
5. Analysis and Discussion	47
5.1. Coordination mechanisms	
5.1.1. Organizational characteristics of the NGO	
5.1.1.1. Organizational culture of the NGO	
5.1.1.2. Organizational structure of the NGO	
5.1.2. Knowledge sharing about sustainable food	
5.1.2.1. Educating stakeholders about sustainable food	
5.1.2.2. Champions	
5.1.3. Organizational characteristics of the collaboration	
5.1.3.1. Organizational culture of the collaboration	49
5.1.3.2. Organizational structure of the collaboration	
5.1.3.3. Formal coordination mechanisms	
5.1.4. Path dependence	54
5.1.4.1. Organizational path dependence	54
5.1.4.2. Structural path dependence	54
5.1.5. Communication and information sharing	
5.1.5.1. Transparency	
5.1.6. Financial resource dependence	
5.1.6.1. Financial resource dependence of the NGO	
5.1.6.2. Financial resource dependence of partners	
5.1.6.3. Financial resource dependence of farmers	
5.1.6.4. Financial resource dependence of the public	
5.2. Revised theoretical framework	57
6. Conclusion	
6.1. Results in Relation to Purpose	
6.2. Limitations and Validity of the Result	
6.3. Future Research	60

References	61
Appendix 1	69
List of Interviewees	

1. Introduction

In this chapter an introduction is given in order to provide context of the study. The initial section entails background information that depicts the causes and the current status of the food system. This is done in order to create an understanding for the study topic's relevance in relation to both an empirical and theoretical background. Derived from this is the purpose of the study, which is stated in the subsequent section.

1.1. Background and Problematization

The Paris Peace Treaty of 1947 marked the end of World War II and the beginning of a new era in economic history. Technological advancement brought unprecedented growth and improved living conditions in countries that had suffered economically and socially during the war such as the United States, United Kingdom, France and Japan (Crafts & Toniolo, 1996). Improved living conditions in combination with advancements in healthcare resulted in a considerable population increase due to longer life expectancy and lower child mortality rates (Cutter, Federman, Garner, Kiely, Levine, McGough, McNillen & Short, 1996). The population growth brought on a greater demand for commodities and services, which stimulated the economy further in the countries that possessed the knowledge, technology and infrastructure to support the increased demand. Many countries were not able to support that increase in demand however, and during the 1960s hunger and malnutrition was widespread across the greater parts of Asia and South America (Pinstrup-Andersen & Hazell, 1985). Fortunately, the post war industrialization also implied that significant advancements were made in the agriculture industry (United States Department of Agriculture and Economic Research, 2014). The introduction of synthetic chemicals, pesticides and genetically modified crops in food production facilitated greater and more stable yields, which raised farmers' incomes, fed more people and stimulated employment in the rural non-farm economy. This phenomenon came to be known as "the Green Revolution" which is considered a major determinant in bringing many underdeveloped countries out of poverty and malnourishment, for example, the average income almost doubled in Asia between 1970 and 1995, and as a result, poverty rates dropped from an average of almost 60 per cent in 1975 to less than 30 per cent by 1995 (Pinstrup-Andersen & Hazell, 1985).

The irony however is that even though the result of the "Green Revolution" and the industrialization of the agricultural industry, were mainly the same in developed countries as in the developing countries, i.e. more food could be produced at a lesser cost, the impact of the transition was not. Due to the fact that the conditions for economic expansion in developed countries such as the United States far exceeded the ones of the developing countries discussed previously, the environmental, social, and economic effects were far apart.

In terms of environmental impact, the industrialization of the agricultural industry has been associated with contributing to climate change (Gornall, Betts, Burke, Clark, Camp, Willette & Wiltsehire, 2010), losses in biodiversity (Devine & Furlong, 2007; Horrigan, Walker & Lawrence, 2002) and irreversible damage to ecosystems (Horrigan et al., 2002). The heavy modification of crops, increased use of nonrenewable energy sources and the extensive use of antibiotics, chemicals and pesticides in food production are all consequences that have been linked to the industrialization of the agricultural industry (John Hopkins University, 2010). In addition, the International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development (2009) estimates that more than 30 per cent of global greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions are caused by the agriculture industry and food systems globally.

The modification of produce has also severely impacted the people consuming it. By adding for example refined sugars, fats and flavour enhancing chemicals in production, producers are able to supply food that have low production costs and that they can sell at a low, competitive price (Grotto & Zied, 2010; Wells & Buzby, 2008). Unfortunately, most of these products lack micronutrients essential for sustaining health and entail a major portion of many people's diets. This has caused diet-related diseases such as heart disease, type-2 diabetes, and obesity to rise to epidemic proportions, being among the most common causes of death in the United States (Mokdad, Marks, Stroup & Gerberding, 2000; Flegal, 2005). Today, more than one third, or 78.6 million, of all American adults are obese (Ogden, Carroll, Kit & Flegal, 2014), resulting in a annual medical cost of \$1 249 higher than the cost of a person of normal weight (Finkelstein, Trogdon, Cohen & Diez, 2009).

Furthermore, it is also believed that the development has contributed to increasing social inequalities as the more nutritious, less modified food has increased in price due to the industry's focus on lowering production costs and thus altering, resulting in a lower quality end product but at a cheap price (Montgomery, 2007; United States Department of Agriculture and Economic Research, 2014). The effects are that food essentially has become a question of wealth and the possibility to buy nutrient rich, unrefined foods, and thus the possibility to attain a healthy life, a privilege (Story, Kaphingst, Robinson-O'Brien & Glanz, 2008).

In addition, the technical advancements meant that human labour was replaced by more effective machinery and small-scale producers were replaced by larger production facilities in order to capitalize on economies of scale in production (Ollinger, Nguyen, Blayney, Chambers & Nelson, 2005). As a result, many farmers were forced out of the agricultural industry into "blue-collar" production and manufacturing industries (Lewis, 1979). This in turn led to increased urbanization since a large part of the population had to relocate and move from their farms into cities and their suburbs where the factories were located (Winfield, 1973).

What can be concluded is that throughout the evolution of the current food system, focus has primarily been directed towards economic growth and prosperity and thus neglecting societal and environmental aspects, resulting in unsustainable production practices, negatively affecting every level of society. In order to inhibit the negative development further, societies must take social equity, environmental protection and economic development into equal consideration. This is what is referred to as the triple bottom line¹ and by catering equally to the three pillars, a society could attain sustainable development² (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1984: 43).

In the case of sustainability initiatives, the key sectors involved are the public sector, the private sector and the community sector (Selsky & Parker, 2005; Van Huijstee, Francken & Leroy, 2007). Furthermore, partnerships between organizations from the public, private and community sectors were established as a vital means in achieving "global sustainable development" at the 1992 United Nations Conference on Environment and Development - the Rio Earth Summit, where it was stated that "only with comprehensive and widespread cross-sector collaboration can we ensure that sustainable development initiatives are imaginative, coherent, and integrated enough to tackle the most intractable problems" (Business and the Environment, 2004). This is further underlined by the United Nations (2010) in the report 'Sustainable Development, From Brundtland to Rio 2012', where it is concluded that in order for a society to achieve sustainable development, businesses, government and non-governmental organizations³ must collaborate.

The first step toward the formation of collaborations, according to Gray (1985), is the participating actors' realization that they are codependent on each other in the addressing of the issue. One aspect that constitutes the base for this codependency is the inherent difficulty for a single organization, alternatively organizations within a single sector, to successfully implement an action plan that incorporates all three properties of sustainable development in combination with the multifaceted nature of the problem (Hens & Nath, 2003).

The literature that takes a standpoint in social issues often argues that for the purpose of efficiently addressing the issue at hand, it is essential for organizations across sectors to collaborate (den Hond, Bakker & Doh, 2012; Gray, 1985; Trist, 1983). When synthesizing the literature on social issues stakeholders and sustainability theory, it becomes evident that in order to address sustainable development, stakeholders from the public, private and/or community sectors must collaborate by combining their respective capabilities and resources (Roome, 2001; Selsky & Parker,

_

¹ Henceforth referred to as TBL

² Defined as "development which meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (World Commission on Environment and Development, 1984: 43).

³ Henceforth referred to as NGOs

2005; Trist, 1983). As a matter of fact, several researchers have arrived at this same deduction, such as Fiedler and Deegan (2007), Gray (1985) and Van Huijstee et al. (2007). An increasingly common manner in which such collaborations occur is through NGO initiatives (Selsky & Parker, 2005).

Moreover, the concept of organizations collaborating across sectors implies certain difficulties due to their inherent differences (Roome, 2001; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Trist, 1983). Therefore in order to ensure effective and efficient utilization of resources and cooperation between partnering members, it is vital for the success of collaborations to employ mechanisms for arranging the organizational structure, decision-making processes, responsibility distribution, activities undertaken within the collaboration etc., namely coordination mechanisms (Gulati, Wohlgezogen & Zhelyaskov, 2012).

Coordination mechanisms can improve the collaborative performance (Lehoux, D'Amours & Langevin, 2014) and are considered essential for the success of collaborations due to the complex nature of collaborations (Roberts & Bradley, 1991). Schneider, Wallenburg and Fabel (2014) add another dimension to this aspect by concurring that the success of collaborations towards sustainable development are dependent on coordination mechanism due to the complexity of addressing social, environmental and economical aspects. Therefore, the complexity of both cross-sector collaborations and particularly those aimed at sustainable development are highly complex.

Current research on the coordination of sustainable food systems is sparse and even more so the research on how NGOs can carry out such coordination (Lehoux et al., 2014; Malone & Crowston, 1994; Michaux, Defelix & Raulet-Croset, 2012; Schneider et al., 2014; Tongsatawe & Tips, 1988). Therefore, in order to address this issue, it is necessary to firstly dismantle the concept into smaller portions in order to subsequently synthesize the disciplines that focus on the respective theoretical field. As the issue is not solely concerned with the development of sustainable supply chains, but rather the entire food system, which entails the collaboration of stakeholders both within and of an entire industry, the theoretical standpoint is taken in cross-sector collaboration literature. Another justification for this is that the focal company in this study is the NGO, an organization that is rarely included in supply chain literature. The theoretical fields that are further identified as relevant consist of cross-sector collaboration, sustainability, NGOs, food supply chains and coordination literature. Sustainability, serving as a perspective theory, will, to an as great extent as possible, provide the lens through which we view the other theoretical fields, namely cross-sector collaboration theory, NGO theory and supply chain theory.

1.2. Purpose

The purpose of this study is to increase the understanding of the mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations towards the development of sustainable food systems.

2. Literature Review

This chapter provides a thorough review of cross-sector collaboration, NGO, sustainable supply chain, and coordination literature. These four areas are synthesized in order to create a theoretical framework on which the study is based. The chapter commences with a discussion regarding different appellations and definitions of collaborations. This section culminates in a definition of cross-sector collaborations found to be most applicable for the purpose of this study. The subsequent sections provide further insights and perspective to the theory on the type of collaborations studied. Lastly, the final section provides a review of the mechanisms and factors that, according to the theory, can affect an NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system.

2.1. Appellations and definitions of collaborations

Collaborations of actors from different sectors are commonly referred to as cross-sector collaborations (Austin, 2000; Bryson, Crosby & Middleton Stone, 2006; Milliman & Grosskopf, 2013; Roome, 2001; Thabrew, Wiek & Ries, 2009). While such relationships are frequently formed in order to address a certain social issue, this is not exclusively the case. Bryson et al. (2006: 44), for example, define cross-sector collaborations as "the linking or sharing of information, resources, activities and capabilities by organizations in two or more sectors to achieve jointly an outcome that could not be achieved by organizations in one sector separately". This view thus implies that actors engage in collaborations in order to reach greater value than they would have on its own alternatively with an actor from its own sector. This take on collaborations is primarily rooted in strategy literature and often takes a resource dependency perspective on the existence of collaborations. Selsky and Parker (2005) refer to this view as the resource dependency platform.

Other common appellations include, cross-sectoral interactions (den Hond et al., 2015), and cross-sector alliances (Milne, Iyer & Gooding-Williams, 1996; Wymer & Samu, 2003). Gulati et al. (2012: 533) refer to the concept as interorganizational cooperation, which they define as organizations' common pursuing of mutually accepted goals in, and place focus on the relevance of establishing a mutual perception of the inputs and outputs of the collaboration. Depending on the context, there does not necessarily need to be a difference between interorganizational and cross-sector partnerships, other than that inter-organizational partnerships can refer to collaborations within a sector, rather than between organizations from different sectors. As there exists a larger body of literature on interorganizational collaboration

with social issues focus however, there are most probably findings that could be relevant for the purpose of this study nonetheless.

Similarly to Gulati et al. (2012), Gray (1983) refers to the concept as interorganizational collaborations within domains. Gray and Wood (1991: 146) use the same term and source the formation of such collaborations to "when a group of autonomous stakeholders of a problem domain engage in an interactive process, using shared rules, norms, and structures to act or decide on issues related to that domain". This branch of collaboration literature is rooted in theory on social issues management, including social problem solving and stakeholder management theory and has many contributors including Clarke (2012), Clarke and Fuller (2011); Eweje and Palakshappa (2011); Seitanidi, Koufopoulos and Palmer (2011) and Selsky and Parker (2005).

Selsky and Parker (2005: 850) provide a substantial review of the current literature to create a platform for studying the concept they call cross-sector social-oriented partnerships, in which organizations from different sectors "jointly address challenges such as economic development, education, healthcare, poverty alleviation, community capacity building and environmental sustainability."

The final branch of collaboration theory is that which concerns what is most interesting for the purpose of this study. Namely, authors who have already created a synthesis between the theoretical fields of collaboration literature and sustainability, and who have thus taken collaboration toward social issues one step further. These include Roome (2001) and Sharma and Kearins (2011) who refer to interorganizational collaboration for sustainability; Fiedler and Diegan who refer to environmental collaborations and lastly Van Huijstee et al. (2007: 75) who refer to intersectoral partnerships as "collaborative arrangements in which actors from two or more spheres of society (state, market and civil society) are involved in a non-hierarchical process, and through which these actors strive for a sustainability goal".

As a result of this review and the empirical context of this thesis, it is argued that although comprehensive in variation, none of the appellations provide a definition that correlates with the purpose of this thesis, as they do not mention either sustainable or NGOs. Therefore, the definition of the collaborative arrangements studied that best describes the phenomenon, and that will thus henceforth be referred to, is:

Cross-sector sustainability-oriented collaborations with NGOs⁴

.

⁴ The terms partnership and collaboration are used interchangeably in the literature on the matter (Gray, 1985; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Van Huijstee et al., 2007) and will correspondingly be applied in the same manner in this paper. The concept will furthermore henceforth be referred to as "collaborations"

2.2. Different Perspectives on Collaborations

In their review article Van Huijstee et al. (2007) outline two different perspectives that authors take in collaboration literature, namely the institutional perspective and the actor perspective. The former represents the view that the emergence of an increasing number of collaborations are a result of the new institutional landscape that organizations are subject to. Put concisely, this is due to globalization and its cause of meta-problems that can only be addressed through collaborations between sectors. Within the actor perspective researchers are less concerned with the contextual institutional premises of collaborations and rather place their efforts on studying the threads of which the fabric that is a collaboration is woven. Included in such research is for instance actors' incentives to partner, positive and negative aspects of collaborations and the identification of critical success factors (Van Huijstee et al., 2007).

For the purpose of this study a combination of the approaches outlined by Van Huijstee et al. (2007) is most valuable. Through such an approach it is namely possible to provide context with an institutional perspective, as has been done heretofore. Furthermore in addressing the research question an actor perspective is more instrumental when investigating which mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in cross-sector collaborations toward sustainability. Therefore an actor perspective will henceforth be applied.

2.3. The Phases of Collaborations

When researching collaborations from an actor perspective, a relevant method is to break down collaborations according to their chronological development (Clarke & Fuller, 2011; Gray, 1985; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Trist, 1983; Van Huijstee et al., 2007; Westley & Vredenburg, 1997). Authors of collaboration literature often divide the process into three distinct phases (Gray, 1985; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Trist, 1983; Westley & Vredenburg, 1997). Consensus has however not been reached on what the terms that the phases should be referred to as, thus the choice has been made to employ the names given by Selsky and Parker (2005), namely formation, implementation and outcomes.

Naturally the characteristics and activities in the different phases will vary in accordance with which types and specific traits of the collaborating organizations (Selsky & Parker, 2005). Therefore the following synopsis of the phases shall merely be regarded as a brief description of the general implications of the phases of collaborations.

According to Westley and Vredenburg (1997), the formation phase involves stakeholders establishing a common formulation of the problem domain, including gathering relevant information, making the collective decision to partner, identification and legitimization of the significant stakeholders, etc. As the first step in the engagement of a collaborations, the preconditions, such as the actors' incentives for partnering (Gray, 1985; Greening & Gray, 1994; Selsky & Parker, 2005), the laws and regulations that apply (Beske, Land & Seuring, 2014; Lambell et al., 2008; Snow & Soule, 2010; Wognum, Bremmers, Trienekens, van der Vorst & Bloemhof, 2011), and differences and similarities in partnering organizations (Clarke

& Fuller, 2011; Lombardi, Pascucci, Cembalo & Dentoni, 2013; Maier & Finger, 2011; Roome, 2001; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Tavella & Hjortsø, 2012; Van Huijstee et al., 2007) are stressed in theory as relevant factors during the formation phase.

The implementation phase implies that partners take aspects such as culture, knowledge sharing and participatory decision-making into consideration by for example establishing joint values and premises under which they intend to operate, which leadership or governance structures to employ (Gulati et al., 2012; Selsky & Parker, 2005), as well as articulating the strategic aims of the collaborations more formally (Gray, 1985). The final stage in the process of collaborating, the outcomes phase, involves the fixation of the emanated organizational configurations, which Trist (1983) refers to as referent structures. Gray (1985) describes this as the development and subsequent establishing of common norms and values into a prevailing framework for the collaboration. Selsky and Parker (2005) add that the outcomes phase includes the results of the collaboration, both measurable and immeasurable, such as the domain's ability to learn and adapt.

2.4. Factors that affect the potential success of collaborations

Several factors are identified within the theoretical areas cross-sector collaborations toward sustainability, cross-sector collaborations with NGOs and sustainable food supply chain theory as significant in determining a collaboration's potential success. Examples include, as previously mentioned, incentives for collaboration such as resource dependence between partners (Beske et al., 2014; den Hond et al., 2012; Lombardi et al., 2013; Roome, 2001; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Van Huijstee et al., 2007) or partners' realized interdependence in addressing the problem at hand (Gray, 1985; Lombardi et al., 2013; Trist, 1983).

A second example that is identified constitutes juridical factors that regulate aspects of the collaboration such as laws or principles, as previously mentioned, that cause the individual organization to be more or less inclined to collaborate, alternatively that determine the nature of the collaboration with regards to for example contracts (Lombardi et al., 2013, Beske et al., 2014; Migliore, Schifani, Guccione & Cembalo, 2013; Lehoux et al., 2014) or monitoring processes (Wognum et al., 2011; Beske et al., 2014) in the implementation phase. It is however commonly stated in the literature that NGOs are more inclined to use less formal coordination mechanisms, such as trust and communication, and less formal monitoring than private businesses or governmental organizations (Michaux et al., 2012; Ring & van de Ven, 1991; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Westley & Vredenburg, 1991), although other authors argue that this rarely is effective in practice (Lehoux et al., 2014).

A third aspect that can affect the fate of a collaboration are the markets and interest groups in its proximity. Actors addressing sustainability (Selsky & Parker, 2005), and sustainable food systems in particular, are often subject to external stakeholder pressure from for example consumers (Beske et al., 2014; Maier & Finger, 2001; Migliore et al., 2013; Tavella & Hjortsø, 2012; Wognum et al., 2011), media (Van Huijstee et al., 2007), the government (Wognum et al., 2011), and environmental associations such as for example sustainability-oriented NGOs (Beske et al., 2014; De Geer, 2009; Migliore et al., 2013; Selsky & Parker, 2005). Organizations adhere to this pressure for several reasons, the main purpose, as expressed in the literature,

being in order to maintain or increase their level of legitimacy toward stakeholders and pressure groups (Bryson et al., 2006; De Geer, 2009; den Hond et al., 2015; Fiedler & Deegan, 2007; Gray, 1985, 1989; Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Van Huijstee et al., 2007).

While these three examples of aspects can have impacts on collaborations and their success, there are a vast number of other external and internal factors, contingent to each specific collaborative network, that further affect the success of the collaboration. In their research Schneider et al. (2014) conclude that since achieving sustainability implies the simultaneous consideration of social, environmental and economical aspects, successful collaborations are dependent on the coordination of the internal collaborative structure in relation to the "case-specific" external contingencies. In addition, their study proved internal coordination, i.e. coordination of the parties within the collaboration, to be "the most salient factor of successful implementation of sustainability in [their] study" (Schneider et al., 2014: 487).

In order to identify the specific factors that make collaborations successful, and that are within the control of the partnering organizations, focus is placed on those aspects and mechanisms that have direct effects on the partnership. Roberts and Bradley (1991) contend that a vital element to ensure a successful collaboration is the coordination of actors and activities in this process due to the complex nature of collaborations. This assertion is consistent with Gray's (1989) statement that when working together to address a certain issue, a fundamental requirement is that collaborations are coordinated. Lehoux et al. (2014) provide further support for this argument by stating that to ensure the success of a collaboration, it must be carefully arranged and planned through the use of coordinating mechanisms in order to enable this manner of conducting business.

The concept of coordination⁵ is discussed as an important mechanism category throughout the theoretical disciplines enclosed in this literature review (Bruns, 2013; Gereffi, Humphrey & Sturgeon, 2005; Gulati et al., 2012; Lehoux et al., 2014; Malone & Crowston, 1994; Michaux et al., 2012; Saab, Tapia, Maitland, Maldonado & Tchouakeu, 2013; Schneider et al., 2014; Smit, Driessen & Glasbergen, 2008; Tongsatawe & Tips, 1988).

Actions taken by NGOs to coordinate actors in cross-sector collaborations mainly take place during the formation and implementation phases (Selsky & Parker, 2005). As a result of a review of the theory on the matter, it is thus found that the mechanisms that affect this coordination can be studied from a chronological perspective, although most mechanisms have a tendency to affect coordination throughout the entire collaboration in terms of for example individual characteristics of the partnering actors. These characteristics, which can affect the incentives for collaborating as well as the implementation of the collaboration and thus the continued coordination of the collaboration. Mechanisms can prevail as facilitators or barriers for an NGO to coordinate the actors in sustainable food systems, depending on the degree to which they are present (Selsky & Parker, 2005).

_

⁵ For the purpose of this thesis coordination is defined as the efforts conducted toward "integrating and aligning the actions, knowledge, and objectives of interdependent members, with a view to attaining common goals" (Rico et al., 2008: 163).

2.4.1. Coordination mechanisms

The following sections provide coordination mechanisms and factors that, according to theory, affect the ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations toward developing sustainable food systems.

2.4.1.1. Experience, trust and routines

According to Roome (2001), prior experiences of collaborating entail a mechanism that can affect partners' facility to collaborate. This is also the case for actors who have previously collaborated with NGOs (Yaziji & Doh, 2009). Experiences, regardless of being positive or negative, can cause actors to have biases for or against certain activities or processes in collaborations, which can either facilitate or impede the coordination of actors (Roome, 2001). Bryson et al. (2006) as well as Ring and van de Ven (1994) agree by stating that the more positive experiences that actors have shared, the greater the potential for coordinating a collaboration between them. Concurrently, a lack of experience can have the effect that members make simple mistakes that could have been avoidable with more experience on the matter (Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Van Huijstee et al., 2007). Poncelet (2001) states that a balance between actors with more and actors with less amounts of experience within a collaboration is preferential.

The concept of trust, namely "the ability to form expectations about aims and partners' future behaviors in relation to those aims" (Vangen & Huxham, 2003: 10), can be regarded as a factor of prior experience or prejudices of partners (Sharma & Kearins, 2011). Distrust between partners can become a psychological barrier to collaborating, hence its opposite, trust, can be regarded as a facilitating factor to coordinating collaborations (Howes, Tangney, Reis, Grant-Smith, Heazle, Bosomworth & Burton, 2015; Michaux et al., 2012; Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Van Huijstee et al., 2007) and in particular with NGOs (Mayer, Davis, & Schoorman, 1995; Ring & van de Ven, 1994; Saab et al., 2013). Trust is furthermore addressed within the literature on sustainable food supply chains as well (Beske et al., 2014), where it for instance is regarded as a factor that can facilitate coordination between farmers and consumers, as organic food supply chains often are shorter than conventional food supply chains (Migliore et al., 2013).

Another factor of prior experience that can affect collaborations is that of routines or processes that have evolved through organizational learning, such as methods for problem-solving (Sharma & Kearins, 2011) or the concept of 'business-as-usual' (Van Huijstee et al., 2007). When path dependence is a result of business practices that are disconnected from the aims of the collaborative efforts, they can signify barriers to coordination, as routines, habits and cognitive patterns that require breaking in order to develop new ones within a collaboration (David, 2007; Gulati et al., 2012). Path dependence is regarded as a relevant factor within sustainable food supply chain literature (Tavella & Hjortsø, 2012) where e.g. Maier and Finger (2011: 96) identify "the threat that organic products pose for the collaborators' routines and their acquired positions in the organization" as a significant barrier to coordinating actors in a collaboration toward a more sustainable food supply chain.

In summary, the factors experience and routines can potentially prove as either barriers to coordinating collaborations, when prejudice and/or biases that inhibit organizational learning exist as preconditions in the formation phase, or as facilitators

when actors have a history of successful collaborating and they can provide insight and knowledge throughout the collaboration practices (David, 2007). Trust signifies a factor that is always beneficial; the more the better, whereas distrust can pose as a large barrier to coordination (Gereffi et al., 2005; Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Van Huijstee et al., 2007).

2.4.1.2. Organizational Culture

An organizational culture is defined by Selsky and Parker (2005) as the social context within an organization that is built up of values, and principles that affect individuals' behaviors and actions. The authors continue by highlighting a few critical factors to creating a common organizational culture between collaborating partners consisting of clear communication, aligned objectives and expectations (Selsky & Parker, 2005; Westley & Vredenburg, 1991).

The concept of organizational culture is frequently coupled with organizational values, principles and norms in the literature on cross-sector collaboration toward sustainability (Michaux et al., 2012; Roberts & Bradley, 1991; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Sharma & Kearins, 2011), and cross-sector collaboration with NGOs (Dutting & Sogge, 2010; Dwyer, Schurr, & Oh, 1987; Milne et al., 1996; Murphy & Dixon, 2012; Snavely & Tracy, 2000; The Charity Commission, 2009) whereas social norms is the only factor out of the four that is referred to in sustainable food supply chain literature (Migliore et al., 2013). Gray (1989) and Trist (1983) are two of many authors who outline the significant role that culture, including values, principles and norms, plays in collaborations, and state that organizations with divergent cultures are more likely to cause increased turmoil in already tumultuous problem domains.

On the contrary, authors within all the disciplines studied, as well as coordination literature concede that partners with similar cultures, alternatively implementing a shared culture within the collaboration can facilitate coordination (Gray, 1989; Gulati et al., 2012; Howes et al., 2015; Kooiman & Jentoft, 2009; Lehoux et al., 2014; Selsky & Parker, 2005). This is done by for instance aligning goals (Clarke & Fuller, 2011; Dwyer et al., 1987; Hamann & Acutt, 2003; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Van Huijstee et al., 2007), objectives (Clarke & Fuller, 2011; Gray, 1989; Migliore et al., 2013; Selsky & Parker, 2005) and actors' perceptions of the problem at hand (Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Tavella & Hjortsø, 2012; Van Huijstee et al., 2007).

2.4.1.3. Communication between partners

The communication mechanism is somewhat interrelated with the culture mechanism, as both can be viewed as a component of the other. Communication can affect the interorganizational culture, as it is crucial for aligning values, principles, goals etc. (Selsky & Parker, 2005), whereas culture can be regarded as a precondition to whether and in which manner members within an organization have an inclination to communicate (Bennington, Shetler & Shaw, 2003).

Communication as a means to provide for partners to be able to make decisions and plan in a manner that benefits the collaboration (Lehoux et al., 2014) is especially vital during the implementation phase in order to ensure a successful collaboration (Beske et al., 2014; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Tavella & Hjortsø, 2012; Van Huijstee et al., 2007; Wognum, et al., 2011), in particular in its coordination (den Hond et al., 2015; Howes et al., 2015; Lehoux et al., 2014; Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978), including when developing sustainable food systems (Beske et al.,

2014; Tavella & Hjortsø, 2012), and is bound to be more advantageous the clearer (Selsky & Parker, 2005), the more frequent (den Hond et al., 2012; Migliore et al., 2013) and the higher the quality (Beske et al., 2014) of the communicated information is. Poor communication can be a consequence of partners' failure to articulate clearly their goals (Rondinelli & London, 2002; Selsky & Parker, 2005), grasp co-partners' fundamental incentives or primary concerns (Selsky & Parker, 2005) and can cause the system profit to decrease (Lehoux et al., 2014). With regards to the development of sustainable and local food systems, communication is further outlined as imperative in order to effectively communicate the differences between conventional food and the higher quality food (Tavella & Hjortsø, 2014).

2.4.1.4. Resource dependence

This mechanism includes both the aspect of human resources, such as knowledge and skills possessed by the individuals in an organization, and physical resources such as the tangible assets owned by an organization, including financial means (den Hond et al., 2012). Resource dependence between collaborating partners is, as previously mentioned, a factor frequently discussed as an incentive for collaborating (den Hond et al., 2012; Milne et al., 1996; Ostrom, 2009; Rondinelli & London, 2002; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Van Huijstee et al., 2007) but is also often regarded by authors as an essential mechanism for the success of collaborations (Beske et al., 2014; Clarke & Fuller, 2011; Gold, Hahn & Seuring, 2013; Migliore et al., 2013; Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978; Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Yaziji & Doh, 2009) and specifically for the successful coordination thereof (den Hond et al., 2012; Lehoux et al., 2014; Michaux et al., 2012; Tongsawate & Tips, 1988).

The pooling of the two types of resources between organizations have positive effects such as increased productivity through specialization by individuals, cost reduction on infrastructure and physical space as well as learning by increased communication with others (Scobie, Hatton & Vargo, 2013). The combination of resources is not only concerned with these potential gains, but also with the interdependencies that exist between partners and their respective resources in order to reach their common goals (Rondinelli & London, 2002). The coordination of resource interdependencies entails balancing, organizing and planning each partner's resource contribution to ensure minimal levels of process losses and maximum output (Gulati et al., 2012). Gulati et al. (2012) state that the rigidity of resources⁶ signifies a barrier to coordination.

Tongsawate and Tips (1988) are in agreement and argue that knowledge, defined as a resource, and the coordination thereof is a rarely utilized mechanism although it represents one with the most potential to addressing coordination issues. There exists a general consensus within the literature regarding knowledge⁷ sharing as a vital coordination mechanism (den Hond et al., 2012; Lehoux et al., 2014; Michaux et al., 2012; Scobie et al., 2013; Stafford et al., 2000; Tongsawate & Tips, 1988). Yaziji and Doh (2009) as well as Pfeffer and Salancik (1978) state that partners' perceived value of the others' resources can also signify a facilitator/barrier to coordination. The higher the value, the greater the facilitation and vice versa. Resource dependencies mentioned in the literature that can signify more specific barriers in the case of the coordination of sustainable food supply chains are the lack of knowledge of organic

-

⁶ i.e. how difficult it is for partners to acquire or transfer resources between organizations (Gulati et al., 2012)

⁷ Including know-how, expertise, advice, learning etc. (den Hond et al., 2012)

farming methods (Beske et al., 2014) and physical resource dependencies such as the size of farms (Migliore et al., 2013), technical rigidity (Wognum et al., 2011) and farmers' lack of financial means (Beske et al., 2014).

2.4.1.5. Organizational structure, governance and decision-making in the collaboration

Regarding the matter of organizational structure, governance and decision-making, several different perspectives exist within the literature. While there is general consensus on the three concepts' great significance on the coordination of collaborations (Gereffi et al., 2005; Howes et al., 2015; Lehoux et al., 2014; Malone & Crowston, 1994; Ring & van de Ven, 1994), there is an ongoing discussion regarding for example whether coordination is most facilitated with a formalized and hierarchical organizational structure, in order to provide clear guidelines of individuals' daily activities and responsibility distribution, although structural rigidity is thought to have negative consequences, by the same authors (Gulati et al., 2012).

There is an overwhelming portion of the literature across disciplines, however, that contests that formalized and hierarchical organizational structures in fact imply more bureaucracy and structural rigidity, allegedly causing unnecessary risks such as power imbalances leading to partners free-riding or opportunistic behavior, and thus argue that coordination is best facilitated through participatory decision-making, equal power and responsibility distribution and democracy (Gray, 1989; Hillman et al., 2009; Michaux et al., 2012; Roome, 2001; Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Trist, 1983). This notion is additionally included in sustainable food supply chain theory, where bureaucratic organizational structures are regarded as impediments to building trusting and cooperative relationships between supply chain partners (Lombardi et al., 2013). Furthermore, research shows that NGOs often experience a fear of losing control of decision-making, causing them to opt more for participatory decision-making than other types of organizations (Selsky & Parker, 2005).

This primarily implies that structure, governance and decision-making are factors that are highly relevant for coordination in the implementation phase of the collaboration although they prove significant in the formation phase as well. This is due to the fact that the partners' individual organizations inevitably possess certain preconditions that can either enable or hinder the coordination of these factors. Authors such as den Hond et al. (2012) and Maier and Finger (2011) state that the compatibility of organizational structures in partnering organizations will have direct implications for the coordination of the collaboration between them, implying that the more similar they are, the more facilitated the coordination.

2.5. Theoretical Framework

Theoretical Framework			
Coordination Mechanisms	Factors		
Experience, trust and routines	Prior experience	Bryson et al. (2006), Poncelet (2001), Ring & van de Ven (2007), Roome (2001), Sharma & Kearins (2011), Van Huijstee et al. (2007), Yaziji & Doh (2009),	
	Trust between partners	Beske et al. (2014), Howes et al. (2015), Mayer et al. (1995), Migliore et al. (2013), Saab et al. (2013), Sharma & Kearins (2011), Selsky & Parker (2005), Van Huijstee et al. (2007)	
	Routines, habits and cognitive patterns in the individual organizations	David (2007), Gulati et al. (2012), Maier & Finger (2011), Tavella & Hjortsø (2012), Van Huijstee et al. (2007)	
	Differing problem-solving approaches	Sharma & Kearins (2011)	
Organizational Culture	Culture, values, norms and principles	Dutting & Sogge (2010), Gray (1989), Michaux et al. (2012), Migliore et al. (2013), Murphy & Dixon (2012), Roberts & Bradley (1991), Roome (2001), Snavely & Tracy (2000), UK Commission (2009)	
	Shared culture between partners	Dwyer et al. (1987), Gulati et al. (2012), Howes et al. (2015), Kooiman & Jentoft (2009), Lehoux et al. (2014), Migliore et al. (2013), Milne et al. (1996), Sharma & Kearins (2011), Selsky & Parker (2005), Trist (1983)	
	Aligned goals and objectives between partners	Clarke & Fuller (2011), Dwyer et al. (1987), Gray (1989), Hamann & Acott (2003), Migliore et al. (2013), Seitanidi & Crane (2009), Selsky & Parker (2005), Van Huijstee et al. (2007)	
	Aligned problem perception between partners	Sharma & Kearins (2011), Tavella & Hjortsø (2012), Van Huijstee et al. (2007)	
Communication between partners	Communication	Beske et al. (2014), den Hond et al. (2012), Howes et al. (2015), Lehoux et al. (2014), Pfeffer & Salancik (1978), Rondinelli & London (2003), Selsky & Parker (2005), Sharma & Kearins (2011), Tavella & Hjortsø (2012), Van Huijstee et al. (2007), Wognum et al. (2011)	
	Clarity of information	Selsky & Parker (2005)	
	Frequency of communication	den Hond et al. (2014), Migliore et al. (2013)	
	Quality of information	Beske et al. (2014)	
Resource Dependence	Resource dependence	Beske et al. (2014), Clarke & Fuller (2011), den Hond et al. (2012), Gold et al. (2013), Green (2003), Lehoux et al. (2014), Migliore et al. (2013), Pfeffer (1981), Pfeffer & Salancik (1978), Rondinelli & London (2002), Scobie, Hatton & Vargo (2013), Selsky & Parker (2005), Sharma & Kearins (2011), Stafford, Polonsky & Hartman (2000), Wognum et al. (2011), Yaziji & Doh (2009)	
	Knowledge (incl. advice, councel and know how) sharing	Beske et al. (2014), den Hond et al. (2015), Lehoux et al. (2014), Michaux et al. (2012), Pfeffer & Salancik (1987), Rondinelli & London (2003), Scobie et al. (2013), Tonsawae & Tips (1988)	
	Farm size	Migliore et al. (2013)	
	Technical rigidities	Wognum et al. (2011)	
	Farmers' lack of financial means	Beske et al. (2014)	
Organizational structure, governance and decision-making in the collaboration	Organizational structure of the collaboration	Clarke & Fuller (2011), den Hond et al. (2012), Gereffi et al. (2005), Gulati et al. (2012), Herranz (2010), Howes et al. (2015), Lehoux et al. (2014), Lehoux et al. (2014), Lehoux et al. (2014), Lehoux et al. (2014), Le	
	Governance of the collaboration	Maier & Finger (2011), Selsky & Parker (2005)	
	Power distribution between partners	Clarke & Finglet (2011), Seissy & Faiket (2003), Gereffi et al. (2005), Gold et al. (2013), Hillman et al. (2009), Maier & Finger (2011), Michaux et al. (2012), Pfeffer & Salancik (1978), Selsky & Parker (2005), Sharma & Kearins (2011), Van Huijstee et al. (2007)	
	Participatory decision-making between partners	Howes et al. (2015), Lehoux et al. (2014), Roberts & Bradley (1991), Selsky & Parker (2005), Sharma & Kearins (2011), Tavella & Hjortsø (2012)	

Figure 1: Theoretical Framework of Mechanisms and Factors that Affect an NGO's Ability to Coordinate the Actors in Collaborations Toward Developing a Sustainable Food System

3. Methodology

The following chapter provides a review of the methodological mechanisms applied within the study. The first section entails a description of the research approach, followed by the design of the research. The third section provides a brief description and justification of the case selected, which is followed by a description of the data collection. Further the method for how the empirical data are presented and analyzed is outlined. Finally, the reliability and validity of the study is discussed.

3.1. Research Approach

The purpose of this thesis is to increase the understanding of the mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations towards the development of sustainable food systems. Furthermore, the research also aspires to fill the gap in current research in the relevant theoretical fields, consisting of cross-sector collaboration, sustainability, NGOs, food supply chains and coordination literature. Initially, in order to provide a theoretical answer to the purpose, a large amount of literature within the respective theoretical areas was reviewed. A framework aiming to theoretically explain which mechanisms affect an NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations towards the development of sustainable food systems was created based on derivations of what was expressed as vital factors affecting such relationships in the literature.

Subsequently, in order to more comprehensively and empirically address the purpose, empirical data was collected and analyzed with regard to its position against the theoretical framework. As a result of the analysis and in order to expand on current research on the matter, a revised theoretical framework based on an integration of previous theory and the empirical data was developed.

3.2. Research Design

3.2.1. Qualitative Case Study

A qualitative research method was utilized afore a quantitative approach due to the fact that in order to address the purpose, a theoretical framework containing what can be regarded as a large number of aspects to research empirically. This is in turn due to the limited amount of theory that exists within the specific area of research, which thus implied that four theoretical disciplines were synthesized in order to provide for a more comprehensive study. This is hence a multiaspect study in which case Larsson (1993) states that a qualitative case study is most appropriate.

For the purpose of this thesis, focus is placed on contextual factors of the case studied namely how individuals involved perceive and portray reality of how processes are carried out by individuals within and with a particular organization in a specific geographic region (Backman, 2008; Bryman & Bell, 2011; Yin, 2009). In addition, as the purpose of this thesis entails examining a specific contextual phenomenon, specifically mechanisms largely performed by the people involved, it challenges the use of a quantitative research method due to the difficulties related to the quantification of multidimensional variables and the formulation and testing of theoretically derived hypotheses. Thus the utilization of a qualitative approach is motivated further (Bryman & Bell, 2011).

A case study was conducted as is motivated by the selection of a qualitative research method, as the two are closely connected and often associated with one another (Bryman & Bell, 2011). A case study is often utilized when the purpose of the study is to conduct an in-depth examination of a specific representation of a phenomenon and its, often ambiguous and complex, relation to its particular context (Bryman & Bell, 2011; Yin, 2009). Conversely, the contextual factors of the case study make it difficult to draw general conclusions based on the results, which is why the approach is sometimes critiqued.

3.2.2. Inductive and Deductive Reasoning

The utilization of a qualitative research method commonly entails an inductive approach afore a deductive, as the latter comprises empirical testing of theoretically derived hypotheses, something that is closely associated with quantitative research. The inductive research approach on the other hand, implies drawing conclusions regarding theory based on empirical observations (Alvesson & Sköldberg, 2008). According to Bryman and Bell (2011) however, these two can be considered as guidelines rather than rules, which is why this study contains elements of both inductive and the deductive reasoning. Deductive reasoning was used as the theoretical framework was created and subsequently tested empirically to examine how well it corresponded to reality. Inductive reasoning was thereafter used as the data collection, which had generated new empirical findings, were integrated in the existing theoretical framework, which was thus revised and updated. This would thus, according to Alvesson and Sköldberg (2008) imply an abductive study as it consists of both inductive and deductive reasoning.

3.3. Case Selection

When conducting a case study, the selection of the appropriate number of cases, and what cases to select, is highlighted by Yin (2011) as a difficulty. Given the purpose and the resource restraints of the study, a single case study of a specific NGO in Los Angeles was utilized afore multiple case studies as it, according to Bryman and Bell (2011), enables a greater in-depth understanding of a the specific case and its context. Conducting a single case study of an NGO in Los Angeles is further motivated by Yin (2009) as the selected case meets several of the outlined rationales for selecting a single case afore multiple cases.

- The case presents a critical test on existing theory regarding an NGO's ability
 to coordinate the actors in collaborations towards the development of
 sustainable food systems.
- The case is unique due to the Los Angeles's geographical, political, demographic and cultural conditions, however not so specific that it does not capture attributes that could potentially be identified in other cases.
- The study is revelatory as it depicts a unique presentation of the current state of an NGO in Los Angeles.

The study does however not meet the longitudinal rationale (Bryman & Bell, 2011), which entails that the case should be studied at two different times in order to depict any changes that may occur over time and identify patterns of transition, due to resource restraints and thus replication of this study rather than conducting a second study is instead suggested for future research.

The Los Angeles Food Policy Council⁸ represents a compelling case study as Los Angeles is ranked one of the most sustainable cities in the United States and there are currently multiple initiatives towards the sustainable development of the city, and due to the important role of NGOs in civil society by virtue of its disassociation of state and government involvement (ARCADIS, 2015). Moreover, Los Angeles has undergone the aforementioned agricultural industrialization, which has resulted in an unsustainable food system where in the 1950s, Los Angeles was the top agricultural producing county in the United States, when in 2010 however, it was one of the lowest producing counties, sourcing minimal quantities of food locally (LAFPC, 2012). Concurrently, the city is exposed to great challenges relating to the city's demographics, economic development, political landscape, geographical location and infrastructure etc. such as the impending threat of natural disasters, droughts, a harsh climate, and an infrastructure built upon the use of cars as the primary means of transportation (ARCADIS, 2015; LAFPC, 2015). Los Angeles represents a unique environment to conduct research in and in order to address the purpose of this thesis it is thus relevant to study an NGO located in Los Angeles.

The LAFPC works toward developing a sustainable food system in the Southern California region by both coordinating initiatives that were commenced prior to its own founding, as well as creating several initiatives on its own. One of its most successful programs is the Good Food Procurement Policy⁹, a program that leverages the purchasing power of large institutions in order to stimulate the supply and demand of food that is sustainably produced and of higher quality than conventionally produced food, and thus facilitate a paradigm shift of the current food system (LAFPC, 2015). The GFPP is one of the most comprehensive food procurement policies in the United States and has since its initial adoptions in 2012 for example contributed to a redistribution of more than \$12 million in produce sales towards the local economy in Los Angeles through the collaboration with the Los Angeles Unified School District¹⁰ (Center for Ecoliteracy, 2012). As an NGO with such a short history of such great success, the LAFPC and its GFPP provides for a case study from which increased understanding can be created about the mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system.

3.3.1. Selection of interviewees

3.3.1.1. Respondents

According to Yin (2011), when studying a complex issue it is important that respondents represent a heterogeneous group with regard to perceptions of the object of study, in our case the mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system. Our heterogeneous sample entails interviewees who work for organizations or alone toward the development of sustainable food systems, where most work at or in collaboration with the focal organization. These individuals come from different sectors and thus have different perspectives on the collaboration.

The sectors represented within our list of interviewees are the community sector, for example the Los Angeles Food Policy Council representatives; the public sector,

⁸ Henceforth referred to as LAFPC

⁹ Henceforth referred to as GFPP

¹⁰ Henceforth referred to as LAUSD

including Antonio Villaraigosa former Mayor of Los Angeles and a number of deputies in the City of Los Angeles; the private sector, including Coosemans Shipping and Gold Star Foods; the agricultural sector, including farmer and farm director Michael Roberts at McGrath Family Farm and the academic sector, including Steve Zimmer at LAUSD and Robert Gottlieb at Occidental College. When interviewing such a diverse group the study becomes multifaceted and can thus provide more accurate empirical findings and analysis (Yin, 2011).

Further, Yin (2011) states that when ensuring that the sample is diverse, it is also viable for the sample to be limited in scope. Therefore a sample of 21 respondents involved in the development of sustainable food systems from multiple sectors in the Los Angeles society is regarded as reasonable for this study, where quality over quantity is an applicable mantra.

3.3.1.2. Sampling

Sampling was conducted through the use of theoretical sampling in order to ensure as well as certain elements of snowball sampling. Although implying certain limitations such as uncertainty of whether sampling is exhaustive or distorted, snowball sampling is an effective sampling method when having limited access to time and other resources (Bryman & Bell, 2011). The sampling process consisted of a two step process in which firstly, respondents with clear associations to the focal organization, the LAFPC, were identified and contacted and secondly they are asked to provide referral to additional respondents that could provide insights for our purpose. Snowball sampling should, according to Yin (2011), not be utilized for convenience purposes, but rather when respondents are difficult to contact or can provide valuable insight and information on the subject matter. Although the method is admittedly convenient, the latter was also the case, considering that respondents' geographical position is so far away in combination with the implied time difference, which implies communication barriers. Additionally respondents provided both relevant insights and information for the addressing of the purpose of this thesis.

At the first stage of the sampling process, a number of people who had been mentioned as key players within the GFPP, alternatively who worked in organizations that were mentioned as key players involved in the GFPP, were initially contacted by email in the process of our secondary data collection. Many of these individuals connected us to others who would be more helpful at the initial stages of our research, i.e. who could provide us with more secondary data, but simultaneously let us know that they were open for further contact if needed. Subsequently, in the next stage of the sampling process we reconnected with those individuals who had offered their future help, as well as the individuals whom we had come in contact with through the initial contact people for interview booking.

3.4. Data Collection

3.4.1. Secondary Data Collection

The secondary data collection was performed through internet searches on the work being done in Los Angeles toward developing a sustainable food system, a thorough review of the LAFPC website and the information received from our initial contacts at the LAFPC. This information included progress reports on the GFPP, case studies of the GFPP performed by for example other university students and a case study of the LAUSD's good food procurement practices. The secondary data was used to gain a

deeper understanding of how the LAFPC works and helped us in the preparation for our interviews by for example facilitating the formulation of interview questions that were contextually accurate. Thorough preparation enabled us to get to the core subjects of the interviews faster and thus gave us more time to discuss the topics in depth.

3.4.2. Primary Data Collection 3.4.2.1. Qualitative Interviews

In order to increase the understanding on the mechanisms that affect an NGOs ability to coordinate initiatives toward developing a sustainable food system, primary data was collected through semi-structured and unstructured interviews with the respondents listed above. Semi-structured interviews imply that the interviewer asks the respondent questions based on a questionnaire template. Questions are usually open-ended meaning that the respondent is required to answer the question without selecting a preconstructed answer, as in for example a multiple-choice questionnaire. As opposed to in a structured interview, the interviewer is in a semi-structured or unstructured interview able to deviate from a potential template by leaving out questions that may for example already have been answered by the respondent in a previous question or by asking additional questions in order to provide a more indepth understanding of the perception of the respondent (Bryman & Bell, 2011).

According to Bryman and Bell (2011: 406) most qualitative researchers favor research practices with as little structure as possible, due to the perception that such structure contaminates the results by "imposing an inappropriate frame of reference on people" when aiming to understand their thoughts on a matter. Thus, in order to eliminate such contamination to an as great extent as possible, we employed semi-structured interviews to those interviews that were planned and when we knew we had more time to ask more questions that we needed help remembering, and unstructured interviews when we knew that we had less time or when interviews were conducted spontaneously.

When using semi-structured interviews, templates were constructed for each individual interview, as our sample was so diverse that the questions would not have been applicable unless reformulated. As our intention was not to compare the interviewees' responses with each other, which according to Bryman & Bell (2011) can be a reason for using semi-structured interviews, the fact that we posed different questions to respondents was not an issue. The questions were based on our theoretical framework with the aim of being able to increase the understanding of the respondents' statements' positions in comparison with the framework and thus update it accordingly to make it more accurate.

Interviews were conducted in various places, for example at Los Angeles City Hall, The California Endowment, at the former mayor's private residence, McGrath Family Farms and at the restaurant Good Girl Dinette. The interviews lasted varying amounts of time, from ten minutes to four hours, depending on how much time respondents were able to devote to us. All interviews except one were recorded. Recording the interviews enabled us to transcribe them, which further facilitated the process of data analysis. The reason for one of the interviews not being recorded was that it was conducted over a lunch meeting in a rather loud restaurant, which meant that the recording would have had too much background noise for being able to interpret what was being said. Instead we took notes of the most important points and wrote down

everything we could remember from the interview as soon as it was over. Unfortunately, however this may have meant that valuable data was lost as we may not have remembered everything important that was said. On the other hand, we met with the same respondents again, at which point the relevant topics were discussed again and we were able to record the entire meeting.

A potential issue associated with recording is that interviewees may become uncomfortable and hesitant. This is however less likely the case when the topic of interest is not of a personal or sensitive nature and the interviewee is able to respond freely (Bryman & Bell, 2011), and is thus not regarded as an issue.

3.5. Method for presenting empirical data

As previously mentioned, the majority of the interviews conducted for this thesis were recorded and subsequently transcribed in full in order to minimize the risk of misinterpretation and ensure that all of the information presented by the interviewees would be included in the data analyzed, in accordance with what Bryman and Bell (2011) contend. As further verification recordings were listened to by both authors in order to confirm and correct any mistakes made in the transcripts. Additionally, the "word for word" transcription also facilitated the use of direct quotation from the interviewes instead of paraphrasing, as well as an understanding of not solely what interviewees said, but also how they said it, which can provide important contextual meaning (Bryman & Bell, 2011). As a precaution, notes were also taken during the interviews in order to ensure that, in the unfortunate event of a technical problem with the recordings, notes on the most important points would exist.

The empirical data are presented in accordance with the structure of the theoretical framework. Focus is placed on those mechanisms and sub-factors that are expressed as predominantly important in their effect on coordinating the actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system. Mechanisms and factors that are less emphasized are however also included in the empirical data as they nonetheless could provide value for the subsequent analysis. Direct quotes are provided as a means to provide evidence, clarity and objectivity, as they demonstrate to the reader precisely what the respondent said, rather than the author paraphrasing and thus staining the response with his or her own interpretations (Bryman & Bell, 2011).

3.6. Method for analysis

Yin (2009) proposes pattern matching as an appropriate method for finding and comparing patterns that occur in a theoretical framework with patterns found through empirical data collection. As the purpose of this study is to fill a gap in existing theory, namely that of the mechanisms that enable NGOs to coordinate the actors in collaborations toward developing sustainable food systems, it is regarded as valid to compare and contrast the phenomena that are according to a synthesis of existing theory on similar or partially applicable theory thought to occur, with those that are depicted in the case studied in this thesis. As the specific theoretical area that the purpose addresses does not contain any previous research however, both similarities and dissimilarities are equally important to take into consideration; dissimilarities between the theoretical framework and the empirical findings can imply that the theory is obsolete and in need of an update, alternatively that previous research is not

applicable to this specific theoretical area. Similarities can on the other hand affirm and strengthen that existing theory is applicable on cases such as the one studied in this thesis.

When revising the framework with regard to the new findings, the new mechanisms that are found in the empirical data are highlighted in order to extend the theoretical framework and emphasize their contribution to the existing research. Mechanisms that occur in both the previous research and the new empirical data are kept in the theoretical framework. Factors that are included in the theoretical framework but that are not supported by the empirical data are also included in the revised framework, as although the study cannot confirm the importance or relevance of the factors, it can conversely not discard them either. Therefore those factors are included in the revised framework, categorized in a logical manner.

3.7. Reliability and validity

3.7.1. Reliability

An important aspect regarding the reliability of a qualitative study is, according to Van de Ven and Poole (1990) that of how the empirical data are converted from incidents into event constructs. This is done through classifying incidents, or interview responses, into theoretically meaningful events, or in the case of this study, into coordination mechanisms identified in previous theory. A common challenge in this process is grasping a meaningful context of the qualitative incident when translating it into what is oftentimes a single term (Van de Ven & Poole, 1990). To account for this issue, we consistently returned to our raw data when presenting our empirical findings, in order to recollect the details of the context in which respondents were speaking, including for example what was said prior and subsequently as well as the tone of voice. Additionally, we were meticulous when presenting the data in their appropriate context, particularly when using direct quotes.

The reliability of the study was further increased by ensuring that the sample contains respondents who are knowledgeable on the subject in question as well as collecting different types of data in different ways. This is a method known as triangulation (Bryman & Bell, 2011; Yin, 2009) and the way in which it was employed was by comparing secondary data, interviews and observations in order to ensure that all data was congruent, as well as by conducting interviews where multiple and diverse respondents gave their opinions from different perspectives but on the same points of interest (Van de Ven and Poole, 1990). To ensure that the data collected from the interviews was valid, we also used respondent validation to further enhance the reliability (Van de Ven and Poole, 1990).

Another way to increase the reliability is to strive to allow for interviewees to respond as freely to questions as possible (Bryman & Bell, 2011). By conducting semi- or unstructured interviews and posing open-ended questions that are not leading, i.e. do not restrict respondents in terms of influencing them to answer in a certain way.

3.7.2. Validity

One way in which validity was accounted for was through the use of pattern matching as a means to ensure construct validity, in accordance with what Yin (2009) states is a most relevant method of data analysis in case studies.

Furthermore, Glaser (1978) outlines three aspects of validity that are to be regarded when conducting case studies. Firstly a high level of integration implies a high level of validity. The revised framework that is presented is derived from the preliminary framework, which consists of a synthesis of theory from four different disciplines that overlap and create a platform for our study, and was further revised with regards to the empirical data collected, and can thus be regarded as integrative.

Secondly, the level of validity depends on how well the final framework relates to the purpose of the study relative to other frameworks (Glaser, 1978). As the purpose of this study is rather specific and there exists virtually no previous theoretical or research platform, our study scores highly within this category, as other theoretical frameworks that address the same or a similar purpose have not been found.

The third and final aspect of validity relates to the relevance of the final framework (Glaser, 1978). Due to the specific nature of the purpose, the relevance can be regarded as limited. However, it is argued that due to the lack of previous research on the matter, it can provide a starting point for future research. Furthermore, due to the final framework's derivation from the preliminary framework, which was based on four different theoretical areas, the final framework could provide some relevance within any of the four, although rather specific.

4. Empirical Findings

In this chapter the empirical findings derived from interviews with individuals that work at or with the LAFPC, alternatively that could provide valuable insights on the mechanisms that affect an the LAFPC's ability coordinate actors in collaborations toward the development of a sustainable food system, although independent from the LAFPC. A list of the interviewees that partook in the study is provided in Appendix 1. In the first sections of the chapter an account for the context of the empirical findings in terms of geographical location, namely Los Angeles, and the LAFPC to enable for a deeper understanding of the findings. Subsequently the findings that relate to mechanisms and factors that correspond to the purpose are presented in accordance with the structure of the theoretical framework. This is done in order to provide clarity, although what is noteworthy is that structuring the findings in this manner implies that a certain amount of analysis has already been carried out.

4.1. Los Angeles

The County of Los Angeles is located in the State of California on the United States' West coast and is the largest county in the country with a population of over 10 million. The county is comprised of 88 cities, among which the City of Los Angeles is the largest with its 4 million inhabitants (United States Cenusus Bureau, 2014).

In the 1950s, Los Angeles was the top agricultural producing county in the United States. In 2010, however, it was one of the lowest producing counties, sourcing minimal quantities of food locally (LAFPC, 2012). Besides the implied political and economical effects of the industrialization of food systems, one can also observe a negative correlation in terms of the health development of citizens across the globe (Skouteris, Cox, Huang, Rutherford, Edwards & Cutter-Mackenzie, 2013). Due to this development, societies are currently faced with the local impact of a global and industrialized food system that is negatively affecting the environment and its inhabitants. An example of this is the widespread occurrence of "food swamps", i.e. urban areas where lower-income communities have limited or no access to healthy food (LAFPCI, 2012).

Recognizing this fact, Angelinos have determined their food system to be unsustainable, and have thus taken action. Farmers, restaurateurs, gardeners, chefs, food wholesalers and processors, grocers, public health practitioners, consumers etc. have taken initiative towards change through coordinating a food system that promotes environmental sustainability while increasing access to healthy food and stimulating the local economic climate. As a reaction, the administration of Antonio Villaraigosa, Los Angeles' former mayor, created the Good Food For All Agenda in July, 2010 (University of Wisconsin Madison, Delwiche & McKinney, 2014). By 2011 the organization had evolved into an independent collective impact initiative, and the Los Angeles Food Policy Council (LAFPC) was formed (LAFPC, 2012).

4.2. LA Food Policy Council and the Good Food Purchasing Policy

The goal was formulated with the involvement of key stakeholders who were identified through a deliberate process by Alexa Delwiche, Managing Director of the LAFPC. Consulting all key stakeholders facilitated an all-encompassing discussion

within a diverse group of participants, which enables for the LAFPC and its partners to work toward developing a sustainable food system with a holistic approach.

The LAFPC has created several initiatives on different levels in the Los Angeles community towards improving the food system in Southern California, one of which is of particular importance for the purpose of this thesis, namely the Good Food Purchasing Policy. The GFPP is as the name entails a purchasing policy directed towards large institutions in Los Angeles and the purpose of the GFPP is to "encourage the production and consumption of food that is healthy, affordable, fair and sustainable [...] recognize that food choices and actions have the power to reform the food system, sustain local family farmers, food workers, support sustainable farming practices, reward good environmental stewardship and increase access to fresh and healthy foods [and to] buy and request Good Food as much as possible" (LAFPC, 2015). This is done through leveraging the purchasing power of large institutions to affect the demand for food that is produced in line with five values: local economy, environmental sustainability, valued workforce, animal welfare and nutritional health (LAFPC, 2015).

Once the institutions have agreed to sign the GFPP, they are tracked and scored on the food they purchase and the proportion of food that is sourced in accordance with the values included in the policy. The extent to which they comply with and take action toward developing their good food purchasing infrastructure further, can enable them to score higher, although the general requirement of the commitment is that institutions source their food according to the bottom line specification within each value category (University of Wisconsin Madison, Delwiche & McKinney, 2014).

A large institution to sign the pledge in 2012 as the LAFPC had just been formed in 2011, was the LAUSD. The LAUSD's initiative to improve its good food purchasing commenced prior to its collaboration with the LAFPC, but was through the collaboration able to raise its score further and thus perform better with regard to the guidelines and goals of the GFPP. Between the years 2009 and 2012 the LAUSD increased its portion of locally sourced food from 9 per cent to 73 per cent (Center for Ecoliteracy, 2012), and its partnership with the LAFPC and commitment to the GFPP as previously mentioned, redirected circa \$12 million toward locally sourced produce in the first year of collaborating, alone (University of Wisconsin Madison, Delwiche & McKinney, 2014).

Other institutions involved in the program include Guckenheimer; the food providers at Google Los Angeles and Roll Global, the City of Los Angeles and several of its departments, such as City of Los Angeles Recreation and Parks, City of Los Angeles Convention Center, City of Los Angeles Department of Water and Power and the City of Los Angeles Department of Aging (LAFPC, 2014).

4.3. Coordination Mechanisms

The empirical findings with regards to coordination mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate actors within a collaboration are presented in accordance with the classification used to group factors with mechanisms in the theoretical framework. In addition, a few subheadings have been added based on the empirical findings in order to make the presentation of factors more lucid. A section of mechanisms not discussed in the literature review titled 'Other mechanisms' is added

also provided. The factors that were not addressed in the empirical findings are excluded from this section.

4.3.1. Experience, trust and routines

4.3.1.1. Prior experience

In an interview with one of the distributors working with the LAFPC, Gold Star Foods, it was stated that Gold Star Foods' positive experience of working with the LAFPC was a major determinant in the company's decision to develop the collaboration further. In addition, another contributing factor to Gold Star Food's further commitment to the GFPP that is highlighted in the empirical data is the LAFPC's prior successful collaboration with the LAUSD. This is seconded by the Managing Director of the LAFPC, Alexa Delwiche, who in an interview stated that the LAFPC often leverages its prior successes in order to attract new partners as well as to strengthening current partners' respective commitments to the GFPP.

The empirical findings from the interviews thus indicate that partnering organizations' prior experience and past successes affect the LAFPC's ability to attract new partners to the GFPP as well as its ability to coordinate existing partners. The empirical data further indicate that the fact that the LAFPC has a record of previous successful collaborations also facilitates the coordination as it strengthens the NGO's credibility and facilitates trust building with new partners. Furthermore there are indications that organizations that possess limited prior experience with the LAFPC or other organizations working toward developing sustainable food systems, sometimes show unwillingness to comply with the GFPP, such as within City Council Departments:

"[...] a lot of times it was 'buy in' but a lot of times there was resistance, right [to Paula Daniels]?" –Former Mayor Antonio Villaraigosa

"...Within departments because they had to understand how to work it." -Paula Daniels

As a lack of prior experience can be the cause of a lack of understanding for or knowledge of matters, this could also be a cause for the departments' resistance to participate in the GFPP. The lack of prior experience, alternatively lack of knowledge or understanding could thus signify a barrier for the LAFPC's ability to attract new partners. What is also evident in the empirical data however, is that in order to circumvent the barrier of a lack of prior experience, facilitators such as leveraging the power of for example the mayor or educating the counterpart about the mutual benefits implied in collaborating.

4.3.1.2. Trust

Trust is a factor of coordination that was not explicitly mentioned frequently in the interviews. The empirical findings however indicate that the aspect of trust affects the LAFPC's ability to coordinate actors committed to the GFPP. In an interview with Alexa Delwiche, the importance of trust is highlighted as a factor that affects the LAFPC's ability to coordinate, as a trusting relationship facilitates information sharing and transparency, such as information regarding purchasing data between partners, which Alexa Delwiche states would be unattainable without the existence of trust between organizations.

There are several indications to the fact that trust is built in various ways within the

GFPP, for example, the empirical data indicate that trust can be created as a result of experience as previously exemplified. Moreover, the data also indicate that, for example, a close connection to government and a close connection to individuals who are considered to be trustworthy, such as Mayor Antonio Villaraigosa supporting the GFPP, further facilitates the building of trust between actors in the collaboration, how trust is built is however not discussed. This could be due to the abstract nature of the concept.

4.3.1.3. Routines, habits and cognitive patterns in the individual organizations

The empirical data are conclusive on the fact that the LAFPC's ability to coordinate the actors within the GFPP is affected by the routines, habits and cognitive patterns of the individual organizations. In several cases, the interviewees express this 'path dependence' of previous practices as an impediment to coordination. For example, when asked what some of the challenges for the LAFPC, in terms of expanding the policy to other regions might entail, Jill Overdorf expresses the difficulty of coordinating actors who are not early adopters to the sustainable practices outlined in the GFPP:

"One of the challenges [...] is that you're dealing with a bunch of people who are not early adopters necessarily, they're farmers, they're ranchers and they're used to doing things in one way."—Jill Overdorf

This thus implies impediments to the LAFPC's ability to coordinate, especially in terms of getting new actors to adopting the GFPP. This derivation is supported further by Michael Roberts, Farm Manager at the organic McGrath Family Farm, who states that the path dependence referred to by Jill Overdorf, is a relevant factor for the producers in the collaboration:

"Phil [the owner of McGrath Family Farm and member of the Leadership and Advisory Board at LAFPC] got into organics very early on, in the early nineties when the certified organic movement first got started, so for us it's been a lot of growing pain figuring out how to do it you had the crutch of chemicals for so long, his family grew with chemicals from post-World War Two until the late eighties, early nineties, so you take that crutch away and now you have to figure out how to do things without it."—Michael Roberts

On the other hand, one might argue that path dependence relating to farming techniques rather signifies technical resource dependence. This is another relevant aspect of the challenge, as it further inhibits farmers to circumvent the path dependence, i.e. if farmers had knowledge of organic farming techniques, and thus lacked resource dependence, then the path dependence would not be relevant either. The empirical data indicate however that there is a distinction between the two and that individuals, and thus organizations' path dependency to certain routines, habits and cognitive patterns, affect the LAFPC's ability to coordinate the actors committed to the GFPP.

4.3.2. Organizational culture

4.3.2.1. Culture, values, norms and principles

The five values on which the Good Food Purchasing Policy is built: local economy; environmental sustainability; valued workforce; animal welfare and nutritional health; are an aspect frequently mentioned by respondents to be of great importance in the

LAFPC's and their partners' work toward developing a sustainable food system. The concept of the work being centered around a core of values permeates throughout, not only the LAFPC, but also to the partnering organizations. The values, priorities among the values and complying with the values are all points that are frequently mentioned by respondents as a principal aspect of their collaborative work.

Although priorities exist within the various value categories, the fact that the set of values included in the GFPP is so inclusive, and that organizations are required to comply with a baseline standard within all value categories causes partnering institutions to consider all values regardless of their respective priorities, thus automatically aligning the values as well as sharing knowledge about the entire set of values and how to comply with them, which is something that could facilitate for organizations to raise their score further within value categories that they perhaps had not considered prior to their involvement in the GFPP. The empirical data indicate that shared values between the partnering organizations are an important aspect to creating a shared culture within the collaboration, which in turn is a facilitator for the coordination of the actors.

One reason for the importance of values within the GFPP is that they were established through a thorough process where a large and diverse group of key stakeholders and organizations from various sectors came together and voiced their opinions on what the policy should include. This is what Alexa Delwiche refers to as collective impact, namely:

"[...] reaching across sectors and issue areas [...] breaking down silos and [...] creating a shared vision and roadmap for solving large social problems." –Alexa Delwiche

This indicates that the diverse group of key stakeholders were important for three main reasons: Firstly that a shared vision was created among stakeholders from different backgrounds, which entails that the foundation of the collaborations, namely what is included in the GFPP, incorporates the perspectives of key stakeholders that are thought to represent the general opinion of similar types of organizations. Those organizations signify potential future partners for the LAFPC and having taken the perspective of their sector or organization type into consideration within the policy, greatly increases the chances for that organization to both form a partnership as well as facilitating the implementation of the partnership with the LAFPC. This is due to the fact that an understanding has been created within the LAFPC of what such a partnership could entail, and is thus connected to the factor prior experience.

Secondly, including a diverse group of key stakeholders implies facilitation of coordination between partners, as the roadmap mentioned by Alexa Delwiche in the quote above, entails that those key stakeholders could lead the way on that road and serve as forerunners within their respective sectors. Attracting and attaining new partners that can follow a forerunner rather than lead is regarded as simpler, as it implies that new organizations can learn from the experiences of the leading organization, as well as the LAFPC having learned from the experience of collaborating with such an organization previously. Sharing such experiences further facilitates for the LAFPC to coordinate those new collaborations, due to the learning curve implied.

Thirdly, Alexa Delwiche's quote indicates that the fact that stakeholders act separately in isolated "silos" signify a barrier to creating a shared vision, and hence culture, as they require "breaking down" to do so. Therefore this entails a rather intuitive barrier for the LAFPC's ability to coordinate actors and concurrently, with reaching across the sector areas being the aim, creating a shared vision and roadmap signify the facilitating coordinating mechanisms to circumvent the barriers to achieve that.

Furthermore, while many organizations had been taking initiatives toward a similar cause, prior to the establishing of the LAFPC, the GFPP included not only values that had already been considered by other organizations, but also incorporated fair labor standards, i.e. the value called valued workforce. This resulted in one of the most comprehensive food procurement policies in the United States (Clare Fox, LAFPC Networking Meeting April 22nd 2015), with a vision of creating a food system based on values. In such a food system, respondents highlight the significance of transparency within the food supply chain so that people can be confident that suppliers acting within the five values of the GFPP and thus making high quality food available to all communities in Los Angeles.

"[...] be confident that [...] suppliers are supporting local economies, and communities, protecting our environment and our natural resources, treating workers with dignity and fairness, raising animals humanely and ensuring that the highest quality, most nutritious food is available in all communities."—Alexa Delwiche

Including more values in the GFPP is one way in which the LAFPC can attract more partners, specifically those that prioritize fair labor standards, which is an issue that is of great importance, especially in a society such as Los Angeles and the South Californian region, where the social inequities are so extreme and evident. Incorporating valued workforce in the GFPP further sends the signal to stakeholders that the LAFPC recognizes some of the most inherent issues in the food system, one which is has been disregarded by every organization in the past.

4.3.2.2. Aligned goals and objectives between partners

The fact that the policy is so inclusive is regarded as a main success factor to the GFPP, as it entails a policy that benefits all stakeholders in the long-run:

"[...] bring[ing] something to the table that's going to benefit everybody. [...] [T]hat's why this is so successful; because everybody benefits in the long-run..." –Jill Overdorf

This implies goal alignment between partners, which entails a facilitator to coordination. Although there are several benefits implied, such an inclusive policy can admittedly imply challenges when engaging in new partnerships, as although the policy may benefit all stakeholders involved, new partners often prioritize the values differently and getting them to see the importance of considering all values is not a simple task (Personal interview with members of LAFPC, 15th April 2015), and is hence regarded as a barrier to establishing shared values, a shared culture and thus coordinating the actors involved. It is a significant barrier, specifically in the formation phase, as taking all the values into account is a fundamental requirement for an organization to be able to participate in the GFPP at all, and thus represents a vital aspect for the LAFPC's ability to coordinate the actors.

For instance, the LAFPC has encountered greater difficulties when attempting to influence private businesses to employ the GFPP compared to for example governmental institutions, as private businesses often place focus on a single bottom line, rather than the triple bottom line. This implies that the fundamental purpose of private businesses, namely that of creating profit for their shareholders proves to be the most significant barrier to getting them to consider the other two pillars of the TBL and thus goal alignment and participation in programs such as the GFPP. Gold Star Foods is a food distributor that works closely with the LAUSD that is looking to expand the type of good food program they take part in within that collaboration to other school districts. They recognize their role in the supply chain as a distributor to make products that are demanded available and are trying to do so while also staying economically viable as well as simultaneously acting within the five values of the GFPP in order to stay in partnership with the LAUSD.

This could imply that the threat of losing business, and thus profit, could be a facilitator that is strong enough to get private businesses to consider the remaining pillars of the TBL although rather involuntarily. On the other hand, Gold Star Foods may rather, or simultaneously, be driven by the opportunity of gaining first mover advantages in an emerging market, where the company has reduced its risks of having limited know-how, as they have gained experiences from working with the LAUSD at a point when Gold Star Foods had no choice but to comply with the LAUSD's requests. Therefore this could insinuate that private companies' focus on a single bottom line, profit, could be leveraged in order to get them to consider the TBL if there exists either a threat that they may lose a significant amount of existing or potential profit if not complying.

The LAFPC recognizes that there are inherent barriers involved when attempting to balance the pressures of stakeholders with different goals and objectives, especially for large private businesses, but also the weight of their involvement in the process. The LAFPC also acknowledge however, the significance of ensuring that private companies that are trying to change their practices toward becoming more sustainable are welcome to join the conversation whenever they are ready to. Thus the LAFPC attempt to facilitate the formation and coordination of partnerships through leveraging an open and inclusive culture towards potential members.

Establishing consensus regarding the benefits of engaging in a partnership and aligning goals can be difficult in governmental organizations as well, especially when there are certain organizational structures in place:

"[...] you've got to push the bureaucracy, and that's what my deputy mayors were really good at. Well, actually they were better than me. By the time it got to me, then it was not going to be a happy meeting, [...] but for the most part with them, what they tried to do was do a win-win, get [the departments] to embrace it, get them to understand why [...]"—Antonio Villaraigosa, Former Mayor of Los Angeles

This quote indicates clearly that both bureaucracy and a lack of comprehension of the benefits of collaborating entail barriers to coordinating actors, specifically in the formation phase of the partnership. However getting one's counterpart to understand the advantages of collaborating and that both organizations involved will gain equally from it is regarded as a facilitator when such barriers exist.

4.3.3. Communication between partners

4.3.3.1 Communication

The importance of communication is highlighted by many of the interviewees in terms of information sharing and transparency in collaborations as a fundamental means to coordination, as it is one of the fundamental requirements to committing to the GFPP. Transparency and information sharing are important as they create a baseline understanding about the policy and which aspects of institutions' procurement practices that need changing in order to better comply with the values of the GFPP. This understanding signifies a requirement that enables institutions to begin making changes and thus represents a facilitating factor to coordinating actors in the GFPP. The corresponding barrier to achieving this however, is the fact that the information required in order to create that baseline understanding is very difficult to gather due to the lack of transparency in the current food system. Transparency is not only required in the formation phase of the collaboration however. In order to monitor partners' continued compliance as well as their progression within food procurement practices, the LAFPC require their partners to provide them with an annual report on their compliance with the GFPP.

Moreover, Emily McKay identifies that the necessity of such a high level of transparency presents a challenge to an institution like Gold Star Foods, where the concern is not with transparency and information sharing itself but with how to best go about sharing that data that is comprehensible and useful with other actors, such as their customers and suppliers. The importance of transparency and information sharing is thus not limited to the actors involved in the GFPP. Alexa Delwiche accentuates the importance of transparency throughout the entire supply chain, specifically in order to enable for potential discrepancies between practices and the GFPP values to be illuminated:

"This is the vision behind the good food purchasing policy. It is a system where we [as consumers] know where our food is coming from and I think that's the most important thing, it's that transparency. Where is our food coming from? And how can we be confident that our suppliers are supporting local economies, and communities, protecting our environment and our natural resources, treating workers with dignity and fairness, raising animals humanely and ensuring that the highest quality, most nutritious food is available in all communities?"—Alexa Delwiche

4.3.4. Resource Dependence

Resource dependence is a coordination mechanism that is most emphasized within the scope of knowledge dependence. This factor is imperative throughout the entire process of the LAFPC's work toward coordinating the actors in the GFPP and is indicated as an aspect that can itself have huge impact on shifting the paradigm in the current food system.

4.3.4.1. Resource dependence

Resource dependence is a factor that is commonly mentioned in the empirical data with regard to financial means and has not only direct implications on the coordination of actors, but also indirect consequences such as a lack of financial means for the LAFPC to expand and thus facilitate further coordination of actors. The LAFPC has heretofore been financed mainly through grants but, due to its current

capacity restraint, its members are exploring other options such as arranging their own fundraiser in June, as they are expanding and thus are in need of more capital.

Another way in which financial means can be restricting in the work toward coordinating the actors involved in the GFPP is specified by Alexa Delwiche as when institutions have limited resources to invest in higher quality food. The LAUSD is dependent upon the increased popularity of the school lunch program to cause an inflow of financial means that they can invest in higher quality food in order to strengthen their GFPP commitment. This resource dependence thus serves as a barrier to coordinating the actors in the GFPP.

This is an especially vital aspect within the GFPP, as the policy is based on the concept that in order to develop a sustainable food system, the paradigm of the entire industry must shift in the sense that a greater demand for sustainably produced food has to be established in order for the producers to start supplying it.

"[...] show people that there is more value to product that taste good and that helps the local economy than there is in product that just looks good and taste like crap. You can shift that paradigm because people are going to ask for more of the good product and they are going to ask for more good food. So the more good food you can sell the more you are going to sell and that's where I think we can shift that paradigm into food that looks good but tastes bad into food that tastes good."—Jill Overdorf

In the case of the GFPP this demand is leveraged through large institutions in order to stimulate the production of higher quality food, as it is a more efficient way of creating demand than persuading the public to, in turn pressure producers to start supplying such food. Another barrier to creating demand through the public is the fact that sustainably produced food rarely can compete with the price of conventionally grown food, which is something that the public has gotten used to and thus expect. In order to create an increase in demand for higher quality food it is vital to educate the public about the negative effects of buying conventional food and the positive aspects of buying sustainably produced food. This is one way in which the barrier of the higher prices of sustainably produced food can be overcome, namely to teach people that it is a better investment.

Finally, financial resource dependence of the public can serve as a barrier in the sense that regardless of the public's awareness of the positive aspects of consuming sustainable and high quality food and respective negative aspects of consuming conventionally produced food, if they cannot afford to buy the sustainably produced food, there is an evident barrier to doing so.

4.3.4.2. Knowledge sharing

Many aspects are evident in the data that point toward the inherent difficulties of shifting the food system paradigm, aspects that are woven into the coordination work that is conducted by the LAFPC. However, the education factor, or knowledge sharing, prevails as the sole most significant aspect that permeates throughout the empirical findings as well as virtually every aspect of the food system that needs changing and thus coordination to initiate and achieve it. The significance of knowledge sharing is best explained when viewing the LAFPC's work through a process in which knowledge sharing, or education is vital at, not only virtually every stage, but on every different level within that stage.

The first step of the process can, for illustration purposes, but not necessarily in practice, be regarded as the realization of an organization's dependence upon others in addressing the issues in the food system and more specifically those issues that they can address, as they possess a lack of knowledge and/or another barrier to coordination that is implied, lack of prior experience. This is the point where an institution contacts the LAPFC to initiate a partnership in order to address the issues in their own procurement practices. At this stage common goals and values, and thus culture are established through knowledge sharing by the LAFPC when educating the institution in question about the potential issues in their supply chain and the values that need to be taken into consideration in order to address them.

This is one of the main missions carried out actively by the LAFPC and is enabled through the next step, namely for the institutions to share their purchasing information with the LAFPC. In order for this to occur, the LAFPC needs to have established a trusting relationship with the institutions, which thus facilitates the coordination. What are described in the empirical data as significant barriers to creating this relationship however are structural rigidities in organizations, such as bureaucracy, as well as a lack of understanding of the benefits or interdependencies of collaborating with the LAFPC. Creating an understanding by sharing knowledge and thus educating the departments however caused them to cooperate and is hence regarded as a facilitator for the LAFPC to coordinate actors in the GFPP.

After having gained access to institutions' purchasing information, the LAFPC is able to analyze it through the use of a vast database of suppliers that are rated in accordance with their compliance with the five values of the GFPP. A barrier that respondents identified as a challenge that occurs at this stage is the difficulty of attaining the required information for that analysis to occur, as there is such limited transparency in the food system currently. A lack of transparency can thus be identified as a barrier to the LAFPC's ability to share information and thus coordinate. This lack of transparency can further be associated with a lack of education, or experience, on the supply chain members' behalf, regarding how to create transparency through for instance monitoring practices within their respective organizations. Therefore, monitoring is a factor that can be regarded as a facilitator to the LAFPC's ability to share information and thus coordinate actors in the GFPP.

The subsequent step in the process is for the institutions to source information on how to monitor their purchasing practices, which is a matter that the LAFPC assists with through organizing events that they call networking meetings, at which various actors can network and convene on matters such as how to create transparency in the supply chain. Hence, knowledge and experience sharing is, again vital in order for actors to be coordinated. Furthermore, the fact that all the different links in the supply chain play a role is an example of the different levels on which education is required in the entire food system, in order for sustainability issues in the food system to be addressed.

At this stage, there are several additional factors that play a role. For example the fact that the meeting attendees are of a diverse nature with respect to the types of organizations they represent, which sectors these organizations act in, etc., which implies more diverse knowledge pool and set of experiences that is available to those seeking information. Another example of a factor that affects the knowledge sharing

that occurs at the networking meetings are cultural aspects such as values, which are communicated inter alia through the language use of those who speak at the meetings. This language for example urges attendees to network and share knowledge and experiences with each other.

Furthermore, other ways in which LAFPC enable partners to obtain information that can assist them in their efforts to improve their purchasing practices are through quarterly newsletters, social media and their website where they for example provide for resource sharing.

When having established how institutions are to go about monitoring their supply chain practices, the subsequent step entails creating contracts that provide clear guidelines and regulations regarding actors' compliance with the GFPP. Colleen McKinney and Alexa Delwiche explained during an interview that many of the active contracts between institutions and their suppliers that the LAFPC examine contain directives that are in line with those encompassed in the GFPP, but are often violated by suppliers, alternatively they are incomprehensive. Oftentimes such directives are however completely excluded from the contracts. Unless contracts can be terminated, for example if the violations are to a severe enough degree, their duration period serves as a time barrier to signing new contracts with different suppliers.

"[...] [I]t's a long process for them to go through and once we have the contracts we can't change it so whenever the contracts are up for renewal, that's when we answer it ourselves and try to see how we can make it better for them and how we can comply with all the food policy requirements [...]"—Star Parsamyan

Contracts thus play a central role in enabling the process of coordinating actors, and active contracts that are not complacent with the GFPP often signify barriers to creating new contracts that are complacent, and thus negatively impact the LAFPC's ability to coordinate actors by delaying the coordination activities. Furthermore, another aspect that facilitates efficient contract writing is developing clear and standardized language that is included in the contracts as well as the RFPs that lead up to the contracts.

Institutions participate in the GFPP on different levels of compliance within the various value categories, and as they strive to strengthen their GFPP scores, the language in the contracts thus becomes increasingly significant. Furthermore, through signing contracts with appropriate language to purchase sustainably grown food the creation of a supply of such food is stimulated throughout the supply chain and the industry, which entails the next step in the process of coordinating actors toward shifting the paradigm of the current food system and thus developing a sustainable one. This is especially vital, as no matter how much demand is created; the fact that a supply does not yet exist is evidently a significant barrier to creating that paradigm shift.

A challenge that is apparent in this stage is farmers', but also general, lack of knowledge and experience within sustainable farming when responding to the market pressures of institutions demanding higher quality food. The industrialization that has shaped the current food system has caused major difficulties for producers who attempt to discontinue their unsustainable farming practices, due to factors such as path dependence that imply opportunity costs in terms of experience and knowledge

of more sustainable farming practices such as organic farming. Although producers may possess knowledge and experience of for example organic farming, there are nonetheless significant barriers that serve as challenges to competing with conventional farming, which is a requirement for creating a supply of sustainably produced food. These challenges include for instance a lack of knowledge and experience regarding methods that enable organic farming on a large scale, as current methods prove inefficient, as issues of e.g. weeding and pests are more difficult to control without using synthetic chemicals other than on small farms, especially when there are financial restraints in terms of affording higher labor costs.

Due to the elimination of the use of synthetic chemicals, which enables more efficient farming, organic farming requires more manual labor, which in turn implies higher costs that for conventional farmers. Higher costs imply higher prices for the end consumer, if the farm is to stay economically viable, which entails that the products are not as competitive on a price basis, which is a barrier to increasing the demand of sustainably grown food. This is especially the case when consumers are used to purchasing cheap food. Hence, higher prices of sustainably grown food and the public perception of food being cheap are two factors that serve as barriers to increasing the demand of sustainably grown food. Educating the public on the benefits of purchasing and consuming sustainably produced food is however as previously mentioned, identified as a factor that to a certain extent can circumvent these barriers.

The next step in the process is thus educating the public in order to further stimulate the demand for sustainably produced food. This step is vital for the GFPP for example in the sense that the more individuals that are educated about the issues involved in purchasing conventionally produced food and the benefits of purchasing sustainably produced, the greater the likelihood that more organizations will realize the food system issues as well as the interdependencies of addressing them, which will further improve the prospects of shifting the paradigm of the current food system and developing a sustainable one.

There are however substantial difficulties implied in educating the public, which furthermore is regarded as an extremely vital aspect of the ability for the LAFPC to coordinate efforts toward shifting the paradigm of the current food system. An aspect that represents a significant barrier to educating people on the issues of the current food system and what needs to be done in order to address them, is that the changes that must occur have such long term effects as opposed to showing immediate results, which is especially an issue since:

"As a society we tend to be rather myopic and so we want an instant gratification, that's much more what we're driven by and so if you can show a seven generation benefit, or even three generation benefit, [...] you can see the wheels start turning." – Jill Overdorf

Presenting people with concrete evidence of either short or long-term effects hence facilitates that understanding, which implies that knowledge sharing can serve as a facilitator to educating the public, which in turn is regarded as a vital aspect for coordinating actors toward developing a sustainable food system.

4.3.4.3. Farm Size, technical rigidities and farmers' lack of financial means

Dealing with weeds and pests without using synthetic chemicals in relation to the size of the farm in question and the challenge to stay economically viable are two of the inherent difficulties implied in organic farming. Additionally a lack of knowledge and experience within sustainable farming methods that are more efficient than existing ones, is outlined as an aspect that causes higher costs and prices of the final product. As previously mentioned, one of the main factors on which organically farmed food competes with conventionally farmed food is on price, indicating that organic farms are struggling with popular expectations of cheap food, a barrier that potentially could, as previously mentioned, be circumvented through educating the public on the disadvantages of purchasing conventionally produced food and the benefits of purchasing sustainably produced food.

"[...] in this country everybody is so used to buying cheap food, that's the way it's been, so we need to talk to them a little bit more in being able to invest in healthy food. So I think those two things: education – to explain why is it important to buy from a local farm that doesn't use chemicals – and the other thing would be price – if we can compete a little bit better on the price, but with the education you may not have to compete so hard because people might understand "OK it's a better investment"."—Michael Roberts

Another aspect that can be regarded as both a technical rigidity as well as a farm-size issue that signifies a constraint to the LAUSD in their strive to improve their good food purchasing score, and hence serves as a barrier to coordinating the actors within the GFPP is the challenges involved in a large institution sourcing food from small- or mid-sized farms. Again this is a barrier that can be associated with a lack of knowledge and experience, but as they LAUSD are at the forefront of the initiative, there is not necessarily any knowledge or expertise to gain in order to circumvent this barrier, other than experimenting and being creative.

4.3.5. Organizational structure, governance and decision-making in the collaboration

4.3.5.1. Organizational structure of the collaboration

In order to study the organizational structure within collaborations focus was placed on the organizational structures within each individual organization in the partnerships. As a comprehensive description of the LAFPC's organizational structure is provided in the section below, titled 'Organizational structure of the NGO', this section will primarily comprise a description of the organizational structures of the partnering organizations.

The institutions committed to the GFPP are generally characterized as large bureaucratic organizations with rigid hierarchical structures. With the majority of the partners consisting of governmental institutions, this is rather typical. Bureaucracy, structural rigidity and hierarchy are described as aspects that impede the LAFPC's ability to coordinate the actors within the collaboration, as bureaucracy tends to hinder development and change by causing inertia within organizations. These barriers to collaboration are however circumvented by the LAFPC through the use of tools such as clear goals and metrics, accountability and the ability to leverage power of the government or influential individuals.

The empirical data describe how the LAFPC implements the use of goals, timetables and metrics in order to ensure compliance as well as to penetrate structural rigidity in partnering organizations with structural rigidity:

"[Y]ou've got to push the bureaucracy to [...] break through the inertia." –Former Mayor Antonio Villaraigosa

The actors' purpose of committing to the policy is oftentimes described as an abstract goal relating to their perception of sustainability and how they can be more sustainable. In large, hierarchical organizations, effective communication is often difficult, which can result in visions, such as this one, not permeating through the organization as it could have in for example a smaller, more agile organization, such as for instance that of LAFPC. In organizations where bureaucracy poses a barrier for the LAFPC to recruit or coordinate actors transforming abstract goals and visions into quantifiable and comprehensible targets is an effective way to penetrate that barrier. Providing individuals with concrete targets, timelines on how to reach them and metrics on how to gauge the development can effectively cause relatability and understanding that partners can commit to.

In addition to using goals, metrics and timelines as means to push bureaucracy, another important aspect described by several interviewees as a means for the LAFPC to break through the barrier of bureaucracy in the partnering organizations is accountability. Mary Lee described how the LAFPC has to make sure that local agencies and entities are held responsible for their commitments to the GFPP. By breaking down the responsibility of the commitment into local levels, such as holding a specific department responsible for complying with the policy commitment, change does not tend to get stuck in the bureaucracy to the same extent as it otherwise may have. Mayor Antonio Villaraigosa suggests that this method can be implemented even more elaborately by holding individuals accountable for the institutional commitment to the GFPP. For the best effect of this facilitator, the person held accountable should be a person of power such as a CEO or a manager.

A third method described in the interviews as a means for the LAFPC to break through the bureaucracy in partners' organizational structures is by leveraging its connection to the government and the power of the Mayor. The founder of the LAFPC, Paula Daniels', close connection to the Former Mayor Antonio Villaraigosa is a factor that is presented by several interviewees as crucial in the sense that the LAFPC and the GFPP had the support of the Mayor, which was highly influential in terms of building the LAFPC's legitimacy, especially at the initial stages of forming the LAFPC. In addition, a strong working relationship with the City Council is also highlighted as an aspect that facilitates the LAFPC's ability circumvent many of the bureaucratic barriers of the governmental institutions committed to the LAFPC.

"[...] [U] sing the power of the City to get others to do good food policy stuff [...]" – Former Mayor Antonio Villaraigosa

4.3.5.2. Power distribution between partners

The LAFPC is described as the coordinating body and it does have several control mechanisms, such as measurements, metrics and the utilization of accountability, in place in order to ensure compliance by the partners committed to the GFPP. These are mechanisms that need to be in place due to the LAFPC's lack of formal power outside

its own organization. However, the previously described facilitating factors used by the LAFPC to penetrate the structural barriers of bureaucracy can to a certain extent be applied to circumventing its lack of formal power as well. One method described earlier is the leveraging of the LAFPC's close working relationship with the government and, during his time in office, the former Mayor Villaraigosa. These relationships do not give the LAFPC any formal power and thus do not change the power distribution within the collaboration, it nonetheless does instill legitimacy for of LAFPC, which facilitates its coordination of new actors as well as existing ones.

Evidence of this lack of power could further be represented by the difficulty for the LAFPC to recruit private businesses to the GFPP, namely that the LAFPC does not have power that they can inflict on them, and leveraging the power of the City may not be as effective in institutions that are not governmental. What can be concluded is thus that the close connection to government signals power and mandate even though no formal power is directed to the LAFPC due to the governmental relationship.

The fact that there is a knowledge imbalance on sustainable food systems between the LAFPC and the actors could further add to the perception of power of the LAFPC. Sustainability is an abstract concept and its content and significance is presented as difficult to grasp by the actors. Evidence of this is provided in the empirical data in terms of for example the fact that several institutions that were contacted in the hope of scheduling an interview about their collaboration with the LAFPC, the representatives referred back to LAFPC members, stating that the LAFPC would best be able to respond to queries on the matter. This insinuates that these partners view the majority of the responsibilities within the collaboration as the LAFPC's, which could indicate a responsibility or power imbalance within the partnership. On the contrary, however, the LAFPC is largely dependent on their counterparts for example share their procurement data in order to be able to coordinate the collaboration, as well as staying in business at all. This further indicates a distribution of power that is inclined toward the LAFPC's partners.

4.3.5.3. Participatory decision-making between partners

Participatory decision-making is principally employed in the collaborations between the LAFPC and its partners during the process of establishing the implementation plan of the GFPP on the partners' procurement practices. Together with the support of the LAFPC, partners establish which levels of compliance they commit to within each of the five value categories included in the GFPP. Subsequently, the LAFPC create an action plan to guide the partners in the process toward reaching those levels. Through the use of such a participatory process, the LAFPC is able to take their partners' priorities into consideration, while simultaneously incorporating the baseline requirements of the GFPP. This further contributes to the practical aspects of fulfilling the goal alignment between partners.

Furthermore, what is evident in the empirical data is that there exists general consensus among respondents that participation of organizations and members across sectors and throughout the food supply chain, or collective impact, is imperative in order to address the entire scope of the issues in the current food system, due to its inherent complexities:

"Collective impact is a collaborative approach that reaches across different sectors and fields of interest to solve complex issues, so for instance solving the food system

problems – kind of complex, you can't do it by yourself so people have got to reach out to others and so collective impact is also a really important way to make large changes and lasting solutions to these problems and what we're trying to do is help bring people together with common visions and common goals." –Haan-Fawn Chau

4.4. Other mechanisms

Additional mechanisms that were found to be of vital significance in the empirical data include the role of champions, contracts and the characteristics of the the backbone organization, the NGO, in advancing and facilitating the LAFPC's coordination of actors in the GFPP.

4.4.1. Champions

An aspect that was frequently mentioned as relevant to the LAFPC's work was the role of specific individuals who act as leaders for the cause and for the LAFPC but who are not in the LAFPC themselves. These individuals include people with extensive knowledge and influence, and a will to use these characteristics toward supporting and advancing the initiative. These champions work in different sectors, for example Robert Gottlieb from Occidental College and LAUSD School Board Member Steve Zimmer from the education sector. Steve Zimmer's engagement was instrumental in the LAUSD's adoption of the GFPP and the concurrent formation of the partnership with the LAFPC.

"[...] [T]wo of our good food heroes that we are honoring at that event are here today, Bob Gottlieb from Occidental College and also LAUSD school board member, Steve Zimmer. So you'll get to hear all about their incredible work [...]"—Clare Fox

The fact that he had initiated change within the LAUSD's food procurement practices a few years prior to the adoption of the GFPP implies that he may have prepared the organization in terms of for example instilling certain values and principles in the LAUSD that led to its organizational culture to correspond more with that of the LAFPC. This could be one way in which the role of champions could facilitate the coordination between the institutions and the LAFPC.

Furthermore, the LAFPC has strong champions at the City Council level as well, the most important ones consisting of Councilman O'Farrell who has been highly involved in the GFPP's implementation at the city level, Mayor Garcetti who is providing strong support of the LAFPC's efforts toward opening a partnership between the LAUSD and a program with the Department of Recreation and Parks as well as Councilman Koretz, whose office was the initial sponsor of the City Council Motion and with which the LAFPC continued to work to monitor that the city departments that are asked to comply with the GFPP, actually do.

An aspect that is highlighted as important in the LAFPC's work toward coordinating the actors in the GFPP is that of pushing the bureaucracy. Governmental institutions such as the City Council are bound by rigid organizational structures and bureaucracy, barriers to coordination that are best circumvented through leveraging the power of individuals that possess it. This may signify a reason for champions' significant role in the process of coordinating the GFPP.

4.4.2. Contracts

An aspect that prevailed as compelling at a rather early stage in the data collection was that of contracts. As previously outlined, the LAFPC's work builds around the premise of enlightening institutions on the issues of their current purchasing practices and what about them that needs altering in order to comply with the GFPP. What is evident in the data is that that the role that the aspect of contracts plays is of vital significance to the LAFPC's work. Contracts do not however affect the collaborations between the LAFPC and institutions in the sense that it the partnerships are contractual, rather it is the LAFPC's role in analyzing existing contracts between institutions and their suppliers and ensuring that new contracts that contain appropriate language, guidelines and regulations are signed with appropriate suppliers. This is an imperative and most palpable aspect of the work that the LAFPC carries out in order to coordinate the actors in the GFPP.

The barriers that are evident in the context of contracts are the time barrier of existing contracts' duration when those contracts do not fulfill the criteria of the GFPP, the lack of standardized language regarding the requirements of the GFPP that can be used in RFPs and contracts. Another barrier is that of suppliers. If new contracts are to be written with current suppliers who are unfamiliar with the LAFPC's work or sustainability issues in the food system, they could be unwilling to cooperate due to for example a lack of experience, knowledge or due to path dependence. Furthermore, regardless of which stage the contracts are signed at, whenever they include suppliers that are not yet entered in the database that the LAFPC has created, a barrier exists in terms of the LAFPC having to gather and analyze information about them in order to evaluate whether those suppliers are desirable suppliers within the scope of the GFPP. This barrier is further elevated due to the difficulty of acquiring the relevant information, as current supply chain transparency is extremely low.

The greater aim of contracts rather than solely regulating and guiding suppliers in their partnership with the institutions is to stimulate supply creation of sustainably produced, high quality food throughout the supply chain, which will contribute to the shifting paradigm in the current food system toward a more sustainable one. Therefore contracts entail a coordination mechanism that is imperative in the LAFPC's work toward coordinating actors in the GFPP.

4.4.3. Characteristics of the NGO

What is emphasized in the empirical data is the importance of the organizational characteristics of the NGO as the backbone organization of the GFPP. The factors are essentially the same as those within the mechanism 'organizational structure, governance and decision-making in the collaboration' however with the alteration of the focus being placed on the NGO rather than its relationship with partners.

4.4.3.1. Organizational culture of the NGO

On the matter of the primary success factors of the LAFPC's work with the GFPP thus far, several aspects are highlighted. Firstly, the foundation of the LAFPC, namely how good food is defined and the values that are included in that definition, serves as the cultural principles on which the LAFPC's organization is based. Having a strong cultural orientation within an organization can be regarded as a facilitator for any work that is carried out by the organization and thus can also be regarded as a facilitator to coordinating the actors involved in the GFPP.

A second aspect that contributes to the organizational culture of the LAFPC is that its members created a structure and a space that is open and welcoming for anyone who is interested in getting involved in issues that concern the food system. This aspect contributes to creating an organizational culture where resourceful and competent people are not only more bound to get involved, but also where they are more likely to thrive and thus contribute more to the successes of the organization by for instance facilitating its ability to coordinate actors in the GFPP.

Thirdly, the culture that was built within the working group within the LAFPC that created the procurement document that entails the foundation of the GFPP is stressed as a success factor of the GFPP. This is due to the fact that the working group consisted of a diverse group of individuals from different sectors with different interests, opinions and experience that worked together and those who remained involved throughout the process showed trust, genuine commitment to the cause as well as support for one another's areas of interest. These are aspects that further contribute to a working space that is characterized by openness, inclusiveness, acceptance and support, which all represent values that strengthen the organizational culture:

"[...] [A] lot of relationships were established and trust was established through that process so the people who ended up sticking it out with us, I mean there were definite issues that arose as we tried to really understand each others' issues and I think initially when we where talking about the concept of good food people thought about it as a "either, or" and I think through our process we got to an "and" so it became much more inclusive."—Alexa Delwiche

4.4.3.2. Organizational structure of the NGO

In the previous section, the factor of organizational structure is briefly mentioned as an aspect that affects the organizational culture, as well as the significance of the LAFPC having an organizational structure that consists of a diverse set of stakeholders. This is frequently discussed, as not only something that affects the organizational culture, but also as a facilitator to the process of developing the GFPP. As previously mentioned, the GFPP itself is highlighted as an aspect that serves as a foundation within the organization, guiding the members in their work toward coordinating actors in their efforts toward developing a sustainable food system.

Therefore the diverse set of stakeholders coupled with the aspect of the GFPP serving as a backbone within the backbone organization can be viewed as a significant factor to the successes of the LAFPC thus far, and hence also its successes within the GFPP and coordinating the actors engaged in the policy.

Another aspect of the organizational structure that is mentioned is the construct of the LAFPC Leadership and Advisory Board. The board consists of a diverse group of around 40 stakeholders who are all "movers and shakers" (Haan-Fawn Chau, LAFPC Orientation Meeting 22 April 2015), i.e. great food system leaders and people that are willing to dedicate themselves to changing the food system.

In summary, the organizational culture and structure of the backbone organization of the collaboration, the LAFPC, is frequently emphasized as of vital importance to its members work toward developing a sustainable food system. The aspects about its structure and culture that are most highlighted are the diversity of the members on all different levels, whether on the Leadership and Advisory Board, in the initial working group that created the Good Food Procurement Document or whether attending the networking meetings.

"[...] [W]e had such a diverse group around the table and what was critical is beyond the agenda on the table was this procurement document and the outcome from that [...]"—Jill Overdorf

This is due to the implications that diversity has on many different aspects, for example that it brings many different principles, values, and experiences to the table, which creates comprehensiveness in the policy formulation; that those people with different interest must collaborate and build trusting and supportive relationships along the way, which builds a strong cultural foundation within the organization; and that the food system issues that are addressed within the scope of the NGO are so complex that incorporating a wide array of perspectives, skills and experiences is of vital importance in order to attend to the problems at all.

Therefore, the organizational characteristics of the LAFPC have imperative effects on the mechanisms that in turn affect its members' ability to coordinate the actors in the GFPP toward developing a sustainable food system.

4.5. Summary of Empirical Findings

This chapter has reflected the empirical findings collected through respondents' recollection of the mechanisms that affect the LAFPC's ability to coordinate the actors within the LAFPC, as well as respondents' views on factors that affect the development of a sustainable food system in general. This section will further provide a summary of the main findings within the most prominent mechanisms.

That which was most evident and relevant in the empirical findings is the inherent need for knowledge sharing, or education, about sustainable food within all categories of stakeholders of the food system including all supply chain members as well as the public. This is due to the general lack thereof, which represents a barrier to coordination that can be connected to virtually all of the other mechanisms.

What was found to be a second imperative mechanism is one, which is not mentioned in previous research and was thus not included in the preliminary framework, namely the characteristics of the NGO in terms of organizational culture and structure within the NGO. This is another mechanism that affects virtually all aspects of the collaboration, as it entails factors such as the NGO being based on a set of values that is amplified through the structure and permeates through both the backbone organization and contributes to creating a common culture between partners that guide the respective collaborations.

An aspect that is found to be of vital importance is that of trust between partners, as it enables for a second significant factor; information sharing, or communication. Information sharing is furthermore regarded as a fundamental prerequisite for the collaboration to work at all.

Furthermore, barriers that are evidently relevant within the context of coordinating actors include path dependence on different levels in the food system; from farming to structural rigidities in governmental institutions, as well as financial resource

dependence of four stakeholder groups within the food system: the NGO, potential or current partnering organizations, farmers and the public.

5. Analysis and Discussion

In this chapter the empirical findings from the previous chapter are compared and contrasted to the existing theory presented in the theoretical review. As existing theory is very limited in scope however, a discussion is provided in order to increase the understanding of the mechanisms' and factors' effects on the particular collaborations with which this thesis is concerned. The chapter is structured in accordance with coordination mechanisms as headings and with factors that are identified as most relevant within each coordination mechanism. Subsequently a revised framework is presented through a synthesis of the preliminary theoretical framework and those mechanisms that are identified in the empirical data.

5.1. Coordination mechanisms

5.1.1. Organizational characteristics of the NGO

5.1.1.1. Organizational culture of the NGO

Organizational culture represents a mechanism that is rather difficult to study as it entails the social context within an organization that is built up of values and principles that affect individuals' behaviors and actions (Selsky & Parker, 2005), thus making values and principles viable indicators of the organizational culture. While previous literature on cross-sector collaborations, NGOs, sustainable food supply chains and coordination mentions the importance of creating a shared culture between partnering organizations and that divergent organizational cultures are more difficult to coordinate (Gray, 1989; Gulati et al., 2012; Howes et al., 2015; Kooiman & Jentoft, 2009; Lehoux et al., 2014; Selsky & Parker, 2005) little is discussed regarding the role of the organizational culture within the NGO. The empirical findings indicate, however that the organizational culture of the backbone organization is of vital importance, not only for attracting and attaining new partners, but first and foremost in establishing a solid foundation on which the organization is built.

Values

The empirical findings further indicate that such a foundation includes values and principles that guide the behaviors and actions of individuals, which is in line with Selsky and Parker's (2005) definition of an organizational culture. Empirical evidence points toward that a foundation built on values provides for those values to permeate through the organization and further affect all aspects of the work carried out by the NGO, including other mechanisms that in turn affect the NGO's ability to coordinate actors in collaborations toward developing sustainable food systems.

5.1.1.2. Organizational structure of the NGO

What is evidently important in the empirical data gathered is that the organizational structure of the NGO as a backbone organization has vital implications for many aspects of the NGO's work, but most significantly for the organizational culture, which in turn has vital implications for coordination.

Participatory decision-making

Just as the organizational culture of the NGO, the organizational structure of the NGO is only briefly discussed within the cross-sector collaboration, NGO, sustainable food

supply chain and coordination literature. Nonetheless, it states that the organizational structure of NGOs often entails characteristics such as participatory decision-making due to a fear of losing control of the decision-making process (Selsky & Parker, 2005). While a fear of losing control is not an aspect that is evident in the empirical data it can neither be rejected nor confirmed, although participatory decision-making is mentioned as an important aspect within the scope of having an inclusive organizational culture and that is relevant in for example the process of developing policies that are to serve as the foundations of partnerships.

Diversity

What is a second empirical finding that is regarded as a vital aspect to facilitating the coordinating actors in collaborations is the fact that the NGO is composed of a diverse set of key stakeholders. Engaging people and organizations from different sectors with varying knowledge and experience is a factor that is heavily emphasized as a vital requirement for being able to address food system issues due to their complex nature. This notion corresponds with that of social, or sustainability, issues in general and can thus be regarded as a meta-problem where collective impact is necessary, as outlined in cross-sector collaboration theory by Gray (1985) and Van Huijstee et al. (2007).

5.1.2. Knowledge sharing about sustainable food

Knowledge sharing is an aspect that is discussed within the scope of resource dependence in current literature. The theory presented in the literature review primarily applies knowledge sharing between partners as a factor that affects an NGO's ability to coordinate actors (den Hond et al., 2012; Lehoux et al., 2014; Michaux et al., 2012), whereas the empirical findings indicate that this factor is so significant throughout the entire process of coordination work by NGOs that it is regarded as a coordination mechanism rather than a factor of the coordination mechanism resource dependence. This is in line with what Tongsawate and Tips (1988) stress, namely that knowledge sharing is the mechanism with the most potential to positively affect the coordination of collaborations.

The literature further mentions the lack of farmers' knowledge about organic farming methods (Beske et al., 2014), as well as a lack of communication to consumers about the differences between conventionally produced food and sustainably produced food as two barriers that are confirmed by the empirical findings as having the ability to affect the coordination of actors in collaborations toward developing sustainable food systems.

5.1.2.1. Educating stakeholders about sustainable food

The levels on which the knowledge sharing mechanism needs to be employed in order to facilitate the NGO's coordination of the actors involved in the system change are:

- Educating potential and current partnering organizations about the issues of their current procurement practices, the issues in their respective supply chains, what needs to change in order to become more sustainable and how.
- Educating potential partners about the significance of sourcing sustainable high quality food and the mutual benefits that are implied
- Educating partners and actors in the supply chain about how to create transparency and monitor the practices throughout the supply chain as well as

how to create contracts that advance the development of sustainable food systems and prevent unsustainable practices

- Educating the farmers about sustainable farming techniques, which is in line with existing theory (Beske et al., 2014) and can circumvent path dependency issues
- Educating the public about the benefits of consuming sustainably produced food versus the disadvantages of consuming conventionally produced food due to the issues in the current food system, which is in line with what Tavella and Hjortsø (2014) outline in the previous literature. Furthermore, the concept of stakeholder pressure by the public is outlined in previous literature by Beske et al. (2014), Maier and Finger (2001), Migliore et al. (2013), Tavella and Hjortsø (2012) and Wognum et al. (2011) as a highly effective mechanism to stimulate the creation of supply of sustainably produced food through demand. Businesses are thought to adhere to such pressure due to the strive to gain or maintain legitimacy (Bryson et al., 2006; De Geer, 2009; den Hond et al., 2015; Fiedler & Deegan, 2007; Gray, 1985, 1989; Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Van Huijstee et al., 2007), which could signify be a reason for their compliance, although the empirical data also indicate that a fear of losing business and thus profit entails a significant incentive to adhere to the pressure.

5.1.2.2. Champions

Champions as a factor that can advance and facilitate the coordination work of the NGO is not mentioned in previous theory, but is however, due to its frequent occurrence in the empirical data regarded as a relevant aspect. There are two aspects that are derived as vital for the role of the champion to be effective, influence and knowledge.

Influence

In order for champions to be successful in their advocacy they need to possess characteristics that make them influential. Examples of such characteristics include having a title or role that implies formal power, having informal power in terms of the ability to influence others into doing something they would not otherwise have done, and having legitimacy or invoking trustworthiness on others. The role of champions is particularly effective when people with such characteristics are advocates who act outside of the backbone organization, as people will not view them as acting out of self-interest.

Knowledge

The second aspect that is important in a champion is that he or she possesses knowledge about that which he or she is advocating. Such knowledge implies increased power and legitimacy and thus influence, and a lack of knowledge can imply the direct opposite, hence making knowledge a fundamental requirement.

5.1.3. Organizational characteristics of the collaboration

5.1.3.1. Organizational culture of the collaboration

Previous literature on cross-sector collaborations, NGOs, sustainable food supply chains and coordination couples organizational culture with the concepts of values, norms and principles (Selsky & Parker, 2005). As previously discussed, these concepts are more identifiable than the culture itself, in the social context of an

organization and are thus employed as indicators in order to distinguish cultural traits between partnering organizations.

Previous theory states that partners with similar organizational cultures are more likely to achieve successful collaborations that are simpler to coordinate than partners with divergent cultures (Gray, 1985; Trist, 1983). While the empirical data does not provide sufficient indications of the cultures in the partnering organizations, what is evident is that common cultures within the collaborations are frequently established in accordance with what Gray (1989), Gulati et al. (2012), Howes et al. (2015), Kooiman and Jentoft (2009), Lehoux et al. (2014) and Selsky and Parker (2005) state. This is done through the use of goal alignment as stated by Clarke and Fuller (2011), Dwyer et al. (1987), Hamann and Acutt (2003), Seitanidi and Crane (2009), Selsky and Parker (2005) and Van Huijstee et al. (2007). Aligning actors' problem perception as stated by Sharma & Kearins (2011), Tavella and Hjortsø (2012), Van Huijstee et al. (2007), is another factor found to be employed by the NGO. Therefore, common organizational cultures are built within each collaboration that the NGO engages in, which is in accordance with what previous theory on the matter states can facilitate coordination. A factor that is categorized differently in the preliminary theoretical framework than here is trust; an explanation for this is found below.

Aligned goals and values

Values are mentioned in the previous literature as an aspect of culture, however in the empirical findings there is evidence that values can play a much more important role in collaborations and the coordination thereof. As the empirical data indicates, the entire collaboration is based on a set of values that in turn serve as the foundation of the common culture that is established between partners. Within the values that outline the guiding principles for the collaborations the NGO included all the different values and goals that organizations may prioritize, thus to a certain extent aligning goals to even prior to the formation of the partnership. This was enabled through the inclusion of a diverse group of key stakeholders during the policy development. This initial step facilitates further coordination, as organizations' goals will already be included in those of the NGO. The challenge however is for the NGO to persuade their partners to consider all of the values included in the principles of the policy, which is regarded a difficult task due to the inherently diverse goals and priorities of partnering organizations, and thus entails a barrier to aligning the goals of and coordinating the actors involved. Other barriers to goal alignment that are found in the empirical data are structural rigidities such as bureaucracy and private businesses being driven by a single bottom line, i.e. profit generation, rather than a triple bottom line. Evidently these organizations are not concerned with sustainable development, in which case they would take all three pillars into consideration (WCED, 1984).

According to existing theory, aligning the problem perceptions between actors is a facilitator to coordination between actors collaborating toward creating local and sustainable food systems (Tavella & Hjortsø, 2012). As the empirical data shows, this factor is so closely coupled with the values and goal alignment process within the coordination of the collaboration, that while vital, the aspect is already taken into account.

Trust

While trust can intuitively be coupled with experience and routines, as in the literature review, the empirical data shows that trust is more relevant in the context of building

a common culture between partners in order to enable for example information sharing, which signifies a fundamental requirement for the collaborations within the GFPP to proceed, an aspect that moreover will be discussed further on in the thesis. The fact that trust represents a prerequisite for information sharing to occur within collaborations between the NGO and its partners, which in turn is a fundamental requirement for the collaboration to occur signifies that the empirical findings are in line with what theory states on the matter, namely that a lack of trust, or distrust would significantly impede the coordination of the collaboration (Mayer et al., 1995; Migliore et al., 2013; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Van Huijstee et al., 2007).

Another context in which trust is referred to in the theory is within the development of sustainable food systems, where bureaucratic organizational structures are regarded as impediments to building trusting and cooperative relationships between sustainable supply chain partners (Lombardi et al., 2013). This notion is however neither confirmed, nor rejected by the empirical findings, as the LAFPC has successfully created trusting relationships with governmental institutions laden with bureaucratic organizational structures. What is evident however is that the LAFPC, as previously mentioned, employs a number of facilitating coordination mechanisms and factors that could signify explanations for that success, despite potential structural rigidities implied.

5.1.3.2. Organizational structure of the collaboration

When comparing the structures in the organizations involved in collaborations with the LAFPC however, it is evident that their organizational structures are significantly divergent to that of the LAFPC. The majority of the LAFPC's partners are governmental organizations laden with bureaucracy, hierarchy and structural rigidity, while the LAFPC is a small organization characterized by participatory decision-making, democracy and inclusiveness. According to theory on the matter, similar organizational structures in partnering organizations the more facilitated the coordination (den Hond et al., 2012; Maier & Finger, 2011). Therefore the opposite, that divergent organizational structures are more difficult to coordinate, should also hold true. Hence, it should theoretically be difficult for the LAFPC to coordinate the actors in their collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system.

With regard to the empirical findings, there are indications that this, in fact, is the case. What is doubtful however, is that this difficulty is due to the differences in organizational structures, as the mechanisms that are employed in order to circumvent those challenges the same as those employed to circumvent the uneven power distribution in the relationship. Therefore, it rather proves more likely, with support of the empirical findings, that the difficulties are more closely related to power imbalances, caused by barriers implied by bureaucracy, between the partners, as well as possibly the lack of understanding of what the collaboration entails in those individuals who are resistant to complying, which is generally an issue throughout the work conducted by the NGO.

Power distribution

As presented in the literature review, there are split opinions regarding whether a formal or informal organizational structure of the collaboration is more beneficial in terms of facilitating coordination; Gulati et al. (2012) argue that a more formal hierarchical organizational structure can facilitate coordination, as it provides clear guidelines of individuals' daily activities and responsibility distribution, whereas an

overwhelming number of authors argue the contrary, as a more formal organizational structure implies more bureaucracy and structural rigidity, causing power imbalances, which in turn causes risks such as opportunistic behavior and partners free-riding. The latter authors thus argue that coordination is best facilitated through organizational structures characterized by participatory decision-making, equal power and responsibility distribution and democracy (Clarke & Fuller, 2011; Covey & Browns, 2001; Gold et al., 2013; Gray, 1989; Hillman et al., 2009; Lombardi et al., 2013).

The empirical findings indicate that the respective collaborations within the GFPP contain certain traits of formal governance mechanisms in terms of for example employing monitoring and reporting systems and leveraging the power of influential organizations or individuals. As previously mentioned, such mechanisms can be employed as a means to circumvent the NGO's lack of formal power toward their partners. Therefore the empirical findings further support the theoretical findings that bureaucratic organizations with structural rigidity and hierarchy can cause an unbalanced power distribution between partners, which causes barriers for the NGO to coordinate the actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system.

Participatory decision-making

The empirical evidence of participatory decision-making between partners primarily consists of the NGO's partners partaking in the process of developing a plan for how the partner is going to reach baseline or higher requirements within the value categories outlined in the GFPP. This implies that the empirical findings are in line with what Gulati et al. (2012) and Selsky and Parker (2005) state, namely that participatory decision-making is a method used in the implementation phase of cross-sector collaborations in order to for example establish the premises on which the partners are to act within the collaboration. This further suggests that although a partnering organization has a bureaucratic structure, participatory decision-making can still be enabled. Furthermore the empirical data does not indicate that there are difficulties to such participatory decision-making, which could signify an indication that it is in fact the employment of participatory decision-making that facilitates the coordination between the NGO and its bureaucratic partnering organizations, as stated by Thabrew et al. (2009), Selsky and Parker (2005) and Tavella and Hjortsø (2012).

Furthermore, what can be established, is that there is general consensus among respondents that there is an inherent will to involve actors on all levels of the food system in the future, and that this is a vital aspect to further coordinating actors in the development of a sustainable food system. This could potentially be in line with what Selsky and Parker (2005) state, namely that NGOs tend to opt for more participatory decision-making due to their fear of losing control of that process. With regards to the context of these empirical findings however, it is more likely that the strive to include actors from all relevant sectors in the decision-making process is due to the nature of the issue at hand, namely the development of a sustainable food system. Therefore the NGO's as well as their partners' opting for participatory decision-making is rather in line with what theory suggests about meta-problems such as those regarding sustainability issues. These problems are according to theory so complex that participation is required from stakeholders across sectors in order to address them (Fiedler & Deegan, 2007; Gray, 1985; Roome, 2001; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Trist, 1983 & Van Huijstee et al., 2007), which in fact is the notion upon which the majority of the literature review is based on.

5.1.3.3. Formal coordination mechanisms

The literature on the coordination of collaborations does not explicitly refer to contracts or monitoring as a means to coordinate collaborations. Contracts are rather mentioned within the scope of determining the nature of the collaboration (Michaux et al., 2012; Ring & van de Ven, 1991; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Westley & Vredenburg, 1991), whereas monitoring is mentioned as a means to control it (Wognum et al., 2011; Beske et al., 2014). Furthermore, due to the fact that previous NGO literature contends that NGOs are more inclined to use less formal coordination mechanisms than for example private businesses or governmental institutions (Michaux et al., 2012; Ring & van de Ven, 1991; Selsky & Parker, 2005; Westley & Vredenburg, 1991), these factors were excluded from the theoretical framework. As our empirical findings indicated otherwise, possibly due to Lehoux et al.,'s (2014) contention that less formal coordination mechanisms rarely prove effective, contracts and monitoring were included in the revised framework. Furthermore, another factor that proves significant in the empirical data is accountability, which is explained below.

Contracts

What is conclusive in both the empirical and the theoretical data is the significant role contracts play in the coordination of the collaboration, that role however differs between the empirical and the theoretical data. In the literature, contracts are presented as means to control the nature of the collaborations, such as principles on which the collaboration is founded (Lombardi et al., 2013, Beske et al., 2014; Migliore et al., 2013; Lehoux, et al., 2014), which in this case would imply the relationship between the LAFPC and the actors committed to the GFPP. This is the role of the GFPP, but in addition, the empirical data suggest that the LAFPC uses the actors' external contracts a means of coordinating actors in the GFPP. The empirical data suggest that significant aspects in the coordination of actor contracts towards sustainable development include the time barrier of existing contracts, the importance of creating and implementing a standardized language in relation to sustainable food supply chains, and achieving greater supply chain transparency, a factor that is highlighted frequently in the empirical data.

Monitoring

As previously mentioned, Lehoux et al. (2014) contend that informal coordination mechanisms are ineffective in practice. The combination of the structural rigidity in several of the partnering organizations as well as the power imbalance between the LAFPC and its partners, this could imply that a use of informal coordination mechanisms in fact would be ineffective in practice. This could potentially be the reason for the fact that one of the success factors of the LAFPC's ability to coordinate the actors being through the use of metrics, goals and timetables. Such factors can furthermore be regarded as effective means to ensure accountability, another significant aspect in the LAFPC's coordination work.

Accountability

Accountability is highlighted in the empirical data as a mechanism to ensure that actors involved in the collaboration live up to their GFPP commitments, and is indicated as particularly useful when coordinating actors with bureaucratic organizational structures. The concept of accountability is described in the empirical findings as a control mechanism utilized by the LAFPC for holding individuals on

different hierarchical levels within the partnering organizations accountable for their commitments. Therefore accountability is included in the revised framework as a vital aspect to ensuring compliance within the collaboration and thus a factor that contributes to the NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in a collaboration toward the development of a sustainable food system.

5.1.4. Path dependence

5.1.4.1. Organizational path dependence

Prior experience

Yaziji and Doh (2009) as well as Roome (2001) argue that prior experience, and specifically partners' positive prior experience of collaborating with NGOs, can affect the NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in the collaboration. The empirical findings provide support for this theory, as partners in the GFPP that had previously engaged with the LAFPC expressed that this provided further inclination to extend that collaboration. Additionally, the LAFPC stated that their prior successes often facilitated the coordination both in terms of attracting new partners, and in terms of building on their learning curve, and thus improving the coordination skills within the organization. Another aspect that facilitates the coordination of actors within the LAFPC is the fact that the procurement document that serves as a foundation of the GFPP is inclusive of all types of stakeholder groups implying that when new members adopt the GFPP, their priorities are already taken into account due to the LAFPC having prior experience with similar types of actors.

Furthermore, the literature suggests that the coordination of collaborations is facilitated in partnerships where one actor's rich experience is complemented by its counterpart's lack thereof (Poncelet, 2001). As indicated by the empirical findings, the LAFPC often possesses more experience than its partners, indicating that Poncelet's (2001) theory is supported.

Routines, habits and cognitive patterns

Path dependency as a consequence of an organization's routines, habits and cognitive patterns that have been established over time can according to both theory and the empirical findings signify a barrier to the coordination of collaborations (David, 2007; Gulati et al., 2012).

In addition, the literature states that organizational learning that is not connected to the collaboration, such as methods for problem-solving and deviations from the usual routines, habits and cognitive patterns can cause path dependence, which signifies a barrier to coordinate actors in collaborations (Sharma & Kearins, 2011; Van Huijstee et al., 2007). This theory is supported in several ways in the empirical data, for instance farmers' dependence on synthetic chemicals posing a threat to successfully engage in organic food production. Another example that is evident in the empirical findings distributors' lack of experience with sharing procurement information with other actors, as they are bound by routines that have not required such practices.

5.1.4.2. Structural path dependence

The empirical data confirms the two types of structural path dependencies highlighted in the literature as factors that can affect the LAFPC's ability to coordinate actors towards the development of sustainable food systems, namely farm size (Migliore et al., 2013) and technical rigidities (Wognum et al., 2011). As these aspects are primarily concerned with farming, they can be regarded as slightly less imperative

than many other factors that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate actors in the food system. These factors do however represent a rather important aspect if the path dependence that is implied entails a barrier too high for farmers to overcome. I.e. if farmers do not produce sustainable food, then the supply of sustainable food will not grow large enough to enable for a paradigm shift in the food system, which is the ultimate goal of the NGO's work. Therefore the structural path dependencies affecting farmers have imperative implications for the NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations toward developing sustainable food systems.

5.1.5. Communication and information sharing

Communication is defined as any interaction or information sharing that occurs between collaborating partners and is in the literature advocated as a facilitator for collaborative partners to be able to make decisions and plan in a manner that benefits the collaboration (Lehoux et al., 2014). In addition, communication is regarded as especially vital during the implementation phase in order to ensure a successful collaboration (den Hond et al., 2015; Howes et al., 2015; Lehoux et al., 2014; Pfeffer & Salancik, 1978). The empirical findings support this theory, although it does not indicate that communication is of greater importance in the implementation than in the formation phase.

5.1.5.1. Transparency

As presented in the empirical data, transparency is one of the fundamental requisites on which the GFPP is based. Transparency allows for the LAFPC to regularly attain information regarding their partners' procurement processes and allows the LAFPC to provide comprehensible information back to their partners, which they in turn can utilize in order to make changes. This allows for better understanding of the goals of the collaboration, actors' incentives and primary areas of concern that are addressed through the collaboration. Transparency by this empirically derived definition is thus considered to be an imperative factor for the coordination of the actors within the GFPP as there would not be any collaboration without it. The role of transparency in the current literature is not as pronounced although the aforementioned aspects described in the literature, namely quality (Beske et al., 2014), frequency (den Hond et al., 2012; Migliore et al., 2013) and clarity (Selsky & Parker, 2005) of the information communicated, are presented as facilitators in the coordination of collaborations.

5.1.6. Financial resource dependence

Financial resource dependence is mentioned in the previous research as a factor of resource dependence that can affect an NGO's ability to coordinate actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system (den Hond et al., 2012). The empirical findings indicate that financial resource dependence in fact plays a role for the coordination of such collaborations, and a rather large one at that, as it is relevant to several different types of stakeholders in the food system.

5.1.6.1. Financial resource dependence of the NGO

Financial resource dependence of the NGO is evident in terms of capacity restraints. If the NGO has a lack of financial means, there is a significant barrier to expanding by hiring more people to handle the increased workload that is implied when forming new partnerships, alternatively developing existing ones.

5.1.6.2. Financial resource dependence of partners

When partnering organizations lack financial resources it can entail a barrier to invest in higher quality food, which implies a barrier for the NGO to attract new partners. Alternatively it implies a barrier for the NGO to coordinate existing partners in terms of strengthening their commitment and contribute more to the development of sustainable food systems.

5.1.6.3. Financial resource dependence of farmers

Farmers represents the stakeholder group that is in fact mentioned in previous theory regarding their lack of financial means as a barrier for the NGO to coordinate a sustainable food system (Beske et al., 2014). The empirical findings provide support to this theory, as they indicate that farmers' lack of financial means can imply a barrier to farming organically. This is due to organic farming methods being more labor intensive and thus more capital intensive than conventional farming, which is more reliant on synthetic chemicals that for example generate larger produce yields. Therefore financial resource dependence of farmers can represent a barrier to employing sustainable farming methods and thus limiting the supply of sustainably grown food, which in turn can negatively affect an NGO's ability to coordinate actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system.

5.1.6.4. Financial resource dependence of the public

The final category of stakeholders whose financial resource dependence can affect an NGO to coordinate actors is that of the public. As long as the supply of sustainably produced food is limited, the prices will be higher than those of conventionally produced food, which proves a reason for decreased demand that higher quality food. Increasing the demand for sustainably produced food is an aspect that is vital for the paradigm of the current food system to shift and the public's demand for sustainably produced food is an aspect with great influence on the accumulated demand. Without this demand there will be limited supply, which again will signify a barrier for NGOs to coordinate actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system.

5.2. Revised theoretical framework

Revised Framework

Organizational characteristics of the NGO

- Organizational culture of the NGO
 - Values
- Organizational structure of the NGO
 - Participatory decision-making
 - Diversity

Knowledge sharing about sustainable food

Path Dependence

- Routines, habits and cognitive patterns

- Problem-solving approaches

- Organizational path dependence

- Prior experience

- Structural path dependence

- Farm size

- Technical rigidities

- Educating stakeholders about sustainable food
- Champions
 - Influence
 - Knowledge

Organizational Characteristics of the Collaboration

- Organizational culture of the collaboration
 - Aligned goals and values
 - Trust
- Organizational structure of the collaboration
 - Power distribution
 - Participatory decision-making
- Formal coordination mechanisms
 - Contracts
 - Monitoring
 - Accountability

Financial resource dependence

- Financial resource dependence of the NGO
- Financial resource dependence of partners
- Financial resource dependence of farmers
- Financial resource dependence of the public

Communication and information sharing

- Transparency

Figure 2: Revised Framework of Mechanisms and Factors that Affect an NGO's Ability to Coordinate the Actors in Collaborations Toward Developing a Sustainable Food System

6. Conclusion

In this chapter a brief presentation of the results of the study in relation to the purpose, followed by a short discussion regarding the limitations and validity of the results. Finally, suggestions for future research on the topic are considered.

6.1. Results in Relation to Purpose

The purpose of this study is to increase the understanding of the mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate the actors in collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system.

In order to provide a platform for the research a thorough review of the literature from four research areas that were regarded as relevant for addressing the purpose was conducted. These consisted of literature on cross-sector collaborations, NGOs, sustainable food supply chains and coordination. In the process of reviewing existing literature, the mechanisms that were highlighted as most significant with regards to the purpose were compiled in a preliminary theoretical framework, which provided an initial theoretical answer to the purpose. Subsequently empirical data was gathered through interviews held with individuals who were currently or had previously been working at or in collaboration with the Los Angeles Food Policy Council, alternatively who could provide other valuable insights about the mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate actors in the food system in Los Angeles.

The empirical findings were then analyzed and discussed through a comparison to the theoretical framework. This was done by categorizing the empirical findings in accordance with the mechanisms included in the theoretical framework to reveal discrepancies and similarities more clearly. What prevailed was that the initial framework did not adequately present the mechanisms that were identified as most important in the empirical data. A revised framework where theoretical and empirical findings were merged was thus created, which provided a response to the purpose that is both theoretically and empirically grounded. The revised framework is furthermore structured according to what the empirical findings indicated as the mechanisms that are most important, with factors that are categorized according to the context in which they are most relevant, and according to how the mechanisms are interrelated in the NGO's coordination of collaborations toward developing a sustainable food system.

The mechanisms highlighted in the revised framework are: organizational characteristics of the NGO; knowledge sharing about sustainable food; organizational characteristics of the collaboration; path dependence; communication and information sharing; and financial resource dependence. Understanding these mechanisms, and the factors that in turn affect the mechanisms, will assist NGOs in other cities or regions in their work toward coordinating actors in collaborations toward developing sustainable food systems.

6.2. Limitations and Validity of the Result

The revised framework addresses the interrelation between the role of the NGO in the coordination of stakeholders in addressing the complex issue that is the sustainable development of food systems. This has not previously been done, although it can be

regarded as a highly relevant issue within sustainability due to the concept being widespread within industrialized societies across the world. As the revised framework incorporates both the four theoretical areas derived from a breakdown of the purpose, and empirical findings of the purpose as a whole, the revised framework effectively addresses the purpose of the study.

The relevance of the revised framework is further supported due to its inclusiveness, as all mechanisms and factors that were stressed in both the theoretical and empirical findings were included. This was done in order to avoid excluding mechanisms or factors that are in fact relevant for the purpose, but that perhaps were not exemplified in the case of the LAFPC. Furthermore, the revised framework takes aspects of the entire food system and its stakeholders into account, rather than concentrating the focus on the NGO. This increases the revised framework's applicability to other cities or regions with unsustainable food systems, especially in the US where stakeholders in the food systems often consist of national actors.

Moreover, in the revised framework certain factors could be considered to overlap. This is due to their high relevance in different contexts of the coordination of collaborations, as the concept can be viewed as a process where factors such as for example trust are pertinent at more than one stage, although not as important in all stages.

There are inevitably a number of limitations to the revised framework however. First, the literature review on which the initial theoretical framework was based could have incorporated more literature and from a greater number of theoretical areas, such as for example food supply chain theory. As a vast body of literature exists within this area, and the decision to base the framework primarily on cross-sector collaborations had been made. This was done due to the fact that supply chain literature often regards a private company at the end of the supply chain as the focal company and this was regarded as less relevant from an NGO perspective. Second, the study was conducted from a sustainability perspective, which could limit the framework's relevance to NGO coordination of cross-sector collaborations with other types of objectives than developing a sustainable food supply chain, including a conventional food supply chain. A third limitation to the revised framework is its primary applicability to Los Angeles, due to certain preconditions that are connected to for instance the local culture, geographic location and awareness of sustainability.

Fourth, the empirical findings included in the revised framework could have incorporated the opinions of more interviewees and thus have increased empirical support. Booking interviews with more individuals proved difficult however, due to so many of them referring to individuals with whom interviews had already been booked or carried out. A final limitation to the framework is that it was constructed at a static point in time, although attempting to explain the factors of a process that are likely to change over time. Due to the complexity of the issue however, the process is not regarded to be fast paced although there is an implied learning curve of each aspect of the coordination work that is carried out by the NGO. This limitation could be evident in terms of for example gaining more explicit insights regarding the mechanisms that affect the coordination of private businesses in collaborations toward the development of sustainable food supply chains, a stakeholder group that was slightly underrepresented in the collaboration.

6.3. Future Research

The general lack of previous research related to the purpose of this study implies that there are a vast number of potential studies that can be conducted in both scope and scale. For instance, the study could be replicated at a future point in time in order to strengthen the reliability of the revised framework. Another suggestion is to study the same phenomenon in a different geographical setting, which is in fact possible due to the current initiatives being taken across the US where different cities are replicating the GFPP. Such research would not only increase the empirical evidence and reliability of the framework, but also its generalizability. Furthermore, with regards to scope future research could entail studying the mechanisms that affect the coordination of conventional food systems, alternatively the mechanisms that affect an NGO's ability to coordinate other types of sustainable supply chains.

References

ARCADIS. 2015. Sustainable Cities Index Report. URL:

https://s3.amazonaws.com/arcadis-whitepaper/arcadis-sustainable-cities-index-report.pdf. Retrieved on April 10, 2015.

Austin, J. 2000. Strategic collaboration between nonprofits and businesses. *Nonprofit and Voluntary Sector Quarterly*. 29(1): 69-97. DOI: 10.1177/089976400773746346. Retrieved on March 10, 2015.

Backman, J. 2008. Rapporter och uppsatser. 2nd edition. Lund: Studentlitteratur.

Bennington, A., Shetler, J. & Shaw, T. 2003. Negotiating order in interorganizational communication: Discourse analysis of a meeting of three diverse organizations. *The Journal of Business Communications*. 40(2): 118-143. DOI: 10.1177/002194360304000202. Retrieved on April 1, 2015.

Beske, P., Land, A. & Seuring, S. 2014. Sustainable supply chain management practices and dynamic capabilities in the food industry: A critical analysis of the literature. *International Journal of Production Economics*. 152(2014): 131-143. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijpe.2013.12.026. Retrieved on February 9, 2015.

Bruns, H. 2013. Working alone together: Coordination in collaboration in collaboration across domains of expertise. *Academy of Management Journal*. 56(1): 62-83. DOI: 0.5465/ainj.2010.0756. Retrieved on March 31, 2015.

Bryman, A. & Bell, E. 2011. *Business Research Methods*. Oxford University Press: Third Ed.

Bryson, J., Crosby, C. & Middleton Stone, M. 2006. The design and implementation of cross-sector collaborations: Propositions from the literature. *Public Administrative Review*. 66: 44-55. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/4096569. Retrieved on March 10, 2015.

Business and the Environment. 2004. Implementing cross-sector partnerships. 4-6. Retrieved on February 11, 2015.

Center for Ecoliteracy. 2012. Los Angeles Unified School District: A new system for purchasing food for school meals. DOI:

http://www.ecoliteracy.org/sites/default/files/uploads/shared_files/LAUSD_Procurem ent Report by CEL.pdf. Retrieved on: January 30, 2015.

Clarke, A. 2012. Key structural features for collaborative strategy implementation: A study of sustainable development/local agenda 21 collaborations. *Management & Avenir*. 50: 153-171. DOI: 10.3917/mav.050.0153. Retrieved on February 9, 2015.

Clarke, A. & Fuller, M. 2011. Collaborative strategic management: strategy formulation and implementation by multi-organizational cross-sector social partnerships. *Journal of Business Ethics*. 94: 85-101. DOI: 10.1007/s10551-011-0781-5. Retrieved on February 11, 2015.

- Crafts, N. & Toniolo, G. 1996. *Economic growth in Europe since 1945*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Cutter, W, B, IV. Federman, M. Garner, T.I. Kiely, J. Levine, D. McGough, D. McNillen, M. & Short, K. 1996. What does it mean to be poor in america. *Monthly Labour Review*. 5(3). URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/41844565. Retrieved on Mars 27, 2015.
- David, P. 2007. Path dependence A foundational concept for historical social science. *Cliometrica The Journal of Historical Economics and Econometric History*. 1(2): 91-114. DOI: 10.1007/s11698-006-0005-x. Retrieved on April 1, 2015.
- den Hond, F., Bakker, F. & Doh, J. 2012. What prompts companies to collaboration with NGOs? Recent evidence from the Netherlands. *Business and Society*. 54(2): 187-228. DOI: 10.1177/0007650312439549. Retrieved on February 25, 2015
- Devine, G.J & Furlong, M.J. 2007. Insecticide use: contexts and ecological consequences. *Agriculture and Human Values*. 24:281-306. URL: http://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs10460-007-9067-z. Retrieved on March 13, 2015.
- Dutting, G. & Sogge, D. 2010. Building safety nets in the global politic: NGO collaboration for solidarity and sustainability. *Development*. 53(3): 350-355. DOI: 10.1057/dev.2010.45. Retrieved on March 30, 2015.
- Dwyer, R.F., Schurr, P.H. & Oh, S. 1987. Developing Buyer-Seller Relationships. *Journal of Marketing*. 51(2):11-27 DOI: 10.2307/1251126. Retrieved on February 27, 2015.
- Eweje, G. & Palakshappa, N. 2011. Stakeholder collaboration in New Zealand: Adding value and legitimacy. *Journal of Corporate Citizenship*. 2011(43): 79-101. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.9774/GLEAF.4700.2011.au.00006. Retrieved on February 25, 2015.
- Flegal, K.M. 2005. Excess deaths associated with underweight, overweight, and obesity. *Journal of American Medical Association*. 2005;294(5):552-553. Doi:10.1001/jama.298.17.2028 Retrieved on February 23, 2015.
- Fiedler, T. & Deegan, C. 2007. Motivations for environmental collaboration within the building and construction industry. *Managerial Auditing Journal*. 22(4): 410-441. DOI: 10.1108/02686900710741946. Retrieved on February 24, 2015.
- Finkelstein, E.A., Trogdon, J.G., Cohen, J.W. & Diez, W. 2009. Annual Medical Spending Attributable To Obesity: Payer-And Service-Specific Estimates. *Health Affairs*, 28(5) 822-831 DOI: 10.1377/hlthaff.28.5.w822. Retrieved on May 17, 2015
- Glaser, B. 1978. *Theoretical Sensitivity: Advances in the Methodology of Grounded Theory*. Mill Valley CA: Sociology Press.
- Gold, S., Hahn, R. & Seuring, S. 2013. Sustainable supply chain management in "Base of the Pyramid" food projects—A path to triple bottom line approaches for

multinationals?. *International Business Review*. 22(2013): 784-799. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ibusrev.2012.12.006. Retrieved on February 9, 2015.

Gornall, J., Betts, R., Burke, E., Clark, R., Camp, J., Willette, K. & Wiltsehire, A. 2010. Implications of climate change for agricultural productivity in the early twenty-first century. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*. 365(1554): 2973-2989. URL:

http://rstb.royalsocietypublishing.org/content/365/1554/2973.full.pdf+html. Retrieved on March 13, 2015.

Gray, B. 1985. Conditions facilitating interorganizational collaboration. *Human Relations*. 38(10): 911-936. DOI: 10.1177/001872678503801001. Retrieved on February 26, 2015.

Gray, B. 1989. *Collaborating: Finding common ground for multiparty problems*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass Inc., Publishers.

Gray, B. & Wood, D. 1991. Toward a comprehensive theory of collaboration. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*. 27(2): 139-162. DOI: 10.1177/0021886391272001. Retrieved on February 26, 2015.

Greening, D. & Gray, B. 1994. Testing a model of organizational response to social and political issues. *Academy of Management Journal*. 37(3): 467-498. DOI: 10.2307/256697. Retrieved on March 13, 2015.

Grotto, D. & Zied, E. 2010. The Standard American Diet and its relationship to the health status of Americans. *Nutrition in Clinical Practice*. 25(6):603-12. DOI: 10.1177/0884533610386234. Retrieved on March 2, 2015.

Gulati, R., Wohlgezogen, F. & Zhelyaskov, P. 2012. The two facets of collaboration: Cooperation and coordination in strategic alliances. *The Academy of Management Annals*. 6(1): 531-583. URL: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19416520.2012.691646. Retrieved on February 25, 2015.

Hamann, R. & Acutt, N. 2003. How should civil society (and the government) respond to 'corporate social responsibility? A critique of business motivations and the potential for partnerships. *Development Southern Africa*, 20(2): 255-270. DOI: 10.1080/03768350302956. Retrieved on March 13, 2015.

Hens, L. & Nath, B. 2003. The Johannesburg Conference. *Environment, Development and Sustainability*. 5: 7-39. DOI: 10.1023/A:1025303511864. Retrieved on March 5, 2015.

Horrigan, L., Walker, P. & Lawrence, RS. 2002. How sustainable agriculture can address the environmental and public health harms of industrial agriculture. *Environmental Health Perspectives*.110(5). URL: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1240832/. Retrieved on March 13, 2015.

Howes, M., Tangney, P., Reis, K., Grant-Smith, D., Heazle, M., Bosomworth, K. & Burton, P. 2015. Towards networked governance: Improving interagency

communication and collaboration for disaster risk management and climate change adaptation in Australia. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*. 58(5): 757-776. DOI: 10.1080/09640568.2014.891974. Retrieved on April 6, 2015.

International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development. 2009. *Agriculture at a Crossroads: Global Report.* Washington, DC: Island Press.

John Hopkins University. 2010. History of food: Background reading. *Teaching the food system: A project of the John Hopkins Center for livable future*. URL: http://www.jhsph.edu/research/centers-and-institutes/teaching-the-food-system/curriculum/_pdf/History_of_Food-Background.pdf. Retrieved on March 13, 2015.

Kooiman, J. & Jentoft, S. 2009. Meta-governance: Values, norms and principles, and the making of hard choices. *Public Administration*. 87(4): 818-836. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-9299.2009.01780.x. Retrieved on: March 30, 2015.

Larsson, R. 1993. Case Survey Methodology: Quantitative analysis of patterns across case studies. *Academy of Management Journal.* 36(6): 1515-1546. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/256820

Lehoux, N., D'Amours, S. & Langevin, A. 2014. Inter-firm collaborations and supply chain coordination: Review of key elements and case study. *Production, Planning & Control: The Management of Operations*. 25(10): 858-872. DOI: 10.1080/09537287.2013.771413. Retrieved on April 6, 2015.

Lewis, F. 1979. Explaining the shift of labor from agriculture to industry in the United States, 1869-1899. *Journal of Economic History*. 39(3):681-698. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2119687. Retrieved on March 16, 2015.

Lombardi, A., Pascucci, S., Cembalo, L. & Dentoni, D. 2013. Governance mechanisms in food community networks. *Italian Journal of Food Science*. 25(1): 547-557. DOI: 131.220.45.179. Retrieved on February 8, 2015.

Los Angeles Food Policy Council. 2012. *Building a Healthy Food System for Los Angeles: Strategic priorities for 2012-2013.* URL: http://goodfoodla.org/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/Good-Food-Office-Strategic-Priorities-3-8-13-1203pm.pdf. Retrieved on April 10, 2015.

Los Angeles Food Policy Council. 2014. *The Good Food Purchasing Pledge*. URL: http://goodfoodla.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/Good-Food-Purchasing-Policy Final 0614.pdf. Retrieved on April 10, 2015.

Los Angeles Food Policy Council. 2015. *Good Food: What is good food?* URL: http://goodfoodla.org/good-food/what-is-good-food/. Retrieved on April 11, 2015.

Maier, S. & Finger, M. 2001. Constraints to organizational change processes regarding the introduction of organic products: Case findings from the Swiss food

- industry. *Business Strategy and the Environment*. 10(2001): 89-99. DOI: 10.1002/bse.280. Retrieved on March 18, 2015.
- Mayer, R. C., Davis, J. H., & Schoorman, F. D. 1995. An integrative model of organizational trust. *Academy of Management Review*. *20(3)*:709-734. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/258792. Retrieved on March 13, 2015
- Malone, T. & Crowston, K. 1994. The interdisciplinary study of coordination. *ACM Computing Surveys*. 26(1): 87-119. DOI: 10.1145/174666.174668. Retrieved on April 1, 2015.
- Michaux, V., Defelix, C. & Raulet-Croset, N. 2012. Boosting territorial multistakeholder cooperation, coordination and collaboration: strategic and managerial issues. *Revue Management & Avenir*. 50: 122-136. DOI: 10.3917/mav.050.0122. Retrieved on April 6, 2015.
- Migliore, G., Schifani, G., Guccione G. & Cembalo, L. 2013. Food community networks as leverage for social embeddedness. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics*. 27(4): 549-567. DOI: 10.1007/s10806-013-9476-5. Retrieved on February 9, 2015.
- Milliman, J. & Grosskopf, J. 2013. Regional sustainability partnerships: What they are and how to start a successful one. *Environmental Quality Management*. DOI: 10.1002/tqem.21331. Retrieved on February 25, 2015.
- Milne, G., Iyer, E. & Gooding-Williams, S. 1996. Environmental organization alliance relationships within and across nonprofit, business, and government sectors. *Journal of Public Policy and Marketing*. 5(2): 203-215. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/30000356. Retrieved on March 5, 2015.
- Mokdad, A. H., Marks, J.S., Stroup, D.F. & Gerberding, J.L. 2000. Actual causes of death in the United States. *Journal of American Medical Association*. 291(10):1238-45. DOI:10.1001/jama.291.10.1238. Retrieved on February 23, 2015.
- Montgomery, R.D. 2007. *Dirt: the erosion of civilizations*. Los Angeles, CA: University of California Press Berkeley.
- Murphy, A. & Dixon, M. 2012. Discourse, identity, and power in international nonprofit collaborations. *Management Communication Quarterly*. 26(1): 166-172. DOI: 10.1177/0893318911424374. Retrieved on March 30, 2015.
- Ogden, C.L., Carroll, M.D., Kit. B.K. & Flegal, K.M. 2014. Prevalence of Childhood and Adult Obesity in the United States, 2011-2012. *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 311(8):806-814. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.732. Retrieved on May 17, 2015
- Pfeffer, J. & Salancik, G. 1978. *The external control of organizations*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Pinstrup-Andersen, P. & Hazell, P. 1985. The Impact of the Green Revolution and Prospects for the Future. *Food Reviews International*. 1(1):1-25 URL: http://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/Pnaaz044.pdf. Retrieved on February 25, 2015.

Ring, P. & van de Ven, A. 1994. Developmental processes of cooperative interorganizational relationships. *The Academy of Management Review*. 19(1): 90-118. DOI: 130.235.66.10. Retrieved on April 6, 2015.

Roberts, N. & Bradley, R. 1991. Stakeholder Collaboration and Innovation: A Study of Public Policy Initiation at the State Level. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*. (27):2. Retrieved on March 10, 2015.

Roome, N. 2001. Conceptualizing and studying the contribution of networks in environmental management and sustainable development. *Business Strategy and the Environment*. 10: 69-76. DOI: 10.1002/bse.276. Retrieved on February 27, 2015.

Saab, D., Tapia, A., Maitland, C., Maldonado, E. & Ngamassi Tchouakeu, L.M. 2013. Inter-organizational coordination in the wild: Trust building and collaboration among field-level ICT workers in humanitarian relief organizations. *International Society for Third-Sector Research*. 24: 194-213. DOI: 10.1007/s11266-012-9285-x. Retrieved on: March 31, 2015.

Schneider, L., Wallenburg, C. & Fabel, S. 2014. Implementing sustainability on a corporate and a functional level: Key contingencies that influence the required coordination. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management*. 44(6): 464-493. DOI: 10.1108/IJPDLM-05-2012-0160. Retrieved on April 7, 2015.

Scobie, M., Hatton, T. & Vargo, J. 2013. *Incentivising effective NGO collaboration: Literature review and post-disaster practice*. 1-44. Report for Ministry of Social Development, University of Canterbury. URL: http://www.resorgs.org.nz/images/stories/pdfs/StudentReports/incentivising_effective ngo collaboration.pdf. Retrieved on March 19, 2015.

Seitanidi, M., Koufopoulos, D. & Palmer, P. 2011. Partnership formation for change: Indicators for transformative potential in cross sector social partnerships. *Journal of Business Ethics*. 2010(94): 139-161. DOI: 10.1007/s10551-011-0784-2. Retrieved on February 11, 2015.

Selsky, J. & Parker, B. 2005. Cross-sector partnerships to address social issues: Challenges to theory and practice. *Journal of Management*. 31(6): 849-873. DOI: 10.1177/0149206305279601. Retrieved on February 9, 2015.

Sharma, A. & Kearins, K. 2011. Interorganizational collaboration for regional sustainability: What happens when organizational representatives come together? *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*. 47(2): 168-203. DOI: 10.1177/0021886310381782. Retrieved on February 9, 2015.

Snavely, K. & Tracy, M. 2000. Collaboration among rural nonprofit organizations. *Nonprofit Management & Leadership*. 11(2): 145-165. DOI: 10.1002/nml.11202. Retrieved on March 30, 2015.

Story, M., Kaphingst, K,M., Robinson-O'Brien, R. & Glanz K. 2008. Creating healthy food and eating environments: policy and environmental approaches. *Annual Review of Public Health*. 29:253-272. DOI: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.29.020907.090926. Retrieved on May 17, 2015

Tavella, E. & Hjortsø, N. 2012. Enhancing the design and management of a local organic food supply chain with soft systems methodology. *International Food and Agribusiness Management Review*. 15(2): 47-68. URL: http://ageconsearch.umn.edu/bitstream/127290/2/20110109_Formatted.pdf. Retrieved on February 9, 2015.

Thabrew, L., Wiek, A. & Ries, R. 2009. Environmental decision making in multi-stakeholder contexts: Applicability of life cycle thinking in development planning and implementation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*. 17: 67-76. DOI: 10.1016/j.jclepro.2008.03.008. Retrieved on February 5, 2015.

The Charity Commission. 2009. Choosing to collaborate: Helping you succeed. *Collaborative Working & Mergers*. 1-34. URL: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/409625

/Choosing to collaborate.pdf. Retrieved on March 30, 2015.

Tongsawate, M. & Tips, W. 1988. Coordination between government and voluntary organizations (NGOs) in Thailand's rural development. *Public Administration and Development*. 8: 401-420. DOI: 10.1002/pad.4230080404. Retrieved on April 6, 2015.

Trist, E. 1983. Referent organizations and the development of inter-organizational domains. *Human Relations*. 36(3): 269-284. DOI: 10.1002/bse.276. Retrieved on March 9, 2015.

Ollinger, M., Nguyen, S.V., Blayney. D., Chambers. B. & Nelson. K. 2005. Structural Change in the Meat, Poultry, Dairy and Grain Processing Industries. *United States Department of Agriculture: Economic Research Service*. 3. URL: http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/850597/err3.pdf. Retrieved on March 2, 2015.

Ostrom, E. 2009. *A Polycentric Approach for Coping with Climate Change*. Background paper to the 2010 world development report. Research Paper No. 2009-10-01, School of Public and Environmental Affairs, Indiana University. URL: http://ssrn.com/abstract=1934353. Retrieved on January 5, 2014.

Poncelet, E. 2001. Personal transformation in multistakeholder environmental partnerships. *Kluwer Academic Publishers*. (34): 271-301. DOI: 10.1023/A:1012659519803. Retrieved on April 1, 2015.

Rondinelli, D. & London, T. 2002. Stakeholder and corporate responsibilities in cross-sectoral environmental collaborations: building value, legitimacy and trust. *Theory, responsibility and engagement*. Retrieved on February 25, 2015.

United Nations. 2010. *Sustainable development: From Brundtland to Rio 2012*. URL: http://www.un.org/wcm/webdav/site/climatechange/shared/gsp/docs/GSP1-6_Background%20on%20Sustainable%20Devt.pdf. Retrieved on March 2, 2015.

United States Cenusus Bureau. 2014. *Los Angeles Quick Facts*. URL: http://quickfacts.census.gov/qfd/states/06/06037.html. Retrieved on March 12, 2015.

United States Department of Agriculture and Economic Research. 2014. *Agricultural Productivity in the United States*. URL: http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/agricultural-productivity-in-the-us.aspx. Retrieved on March 2, 2015.

Van de Ven, A. H., Poole, M. S. 1990. Methods for studying innovation development in the Minnesota Innovation Research Program. *Organization Science*. 1(3): 313–335. Retrieved on April 9, 2015. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/2635008.

Van Huijstee, M., Francken, M. & Leroy, P. 2007. Partnerships for sustainable development: A review of current literature. *Environmental Sciences*. 4(2): 75-89. DOI: 10.1080/15693430701526336. Retrieved on March 2, 2015.

Vangen, S. & Huxham, C. 2003. Nurturing Collaborative Relations: Building Trust in Interorganizational Collaboration. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*. 39(1): 5-31. Doi:10.1177/0021886303039001001. Retrieved on May 9, 2015.

Wells, F.H & Buzby, J.C. 2008. Dietary Assessment of Major Trends in U.S. Food Consumption 1970-2005. *National Agricultural Library Cataloging Record.* 33:27 URL: http://www.ers.usda.gov/media/210681/eib33_1_.pdf. Retrieved on March 2, 2015.

Westley, F. & Vredenburg, H. 1991. Strategic bridging: The collaboration between environmentalists and business in the marketing of green products. *Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*. 27(1): 65-90. DOI: 10.1177/0021886391271004. Retrieved on March 13, 2015.

Winfield, G.F. 1973. The Impact of Urbanization on Agricultural Processes. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*. 405: 65-74. URL: http://www.jstor.org/stable/1040215. Retrieved on March 16, 2015.

Wognum, P., Bremmers, H., Trienekens, J., van der Vorst, J. & Bloemhof, J. 2011. Systems for sustainability and transparency of food supply chains - Current status and challenges. *Advanced Engineering Informatics*. 25(2011): 65-76. DOI: 10.1016/j.aei.2010.06.001. Retrieved on February 6, 2015.

World Commission on Environment and Development. 1987. *Our Common Future*. New York: Oxford University Press

Wymer, W. & Samu, S. 2003. Dimensions of business and nonprofit collaborative relationships. *Journal of Nonprofit & Public Sector Marketing*. 11(1): 3-22. DOI: 10.1300/J054v11n01_02. Retrieved on March 5, 2015.

Yaziji, M. & Doh, J. 2009. *NGOs and Corporations: Conflict and Collaboration*. New York: Cambridge University Press, New York

Yin, R.K. 2009. *Case study research: Design and methods*, 4th ed., Los Angeles: Sage.

Appendix 1

List of Interviewees

Interviewee	Position and Organization
Alexa Delwiche	Managing Director at Los Angeles Food Policy Council
Colleen McKinney	Policy Analyst at Los Angeles Food Policy Council
Joann Lo	Vice Chair of the Leadership Board of Los Angeles Food Policy Council and the Co-Director at Food Chain Workers Alliance
Jill Overdorf	Leadership and Advisory Board of Los Angeles Food Policy Council and Corporate Executive Chef and Director of Business and Culinary Development for Coosemans Shipping of Los Angeles
Antonio Villaraigosa	Former Mayor of Los Angeles
Paula Daniels	Founder and Member of the Leadership and Advisory Board of the Los Angeles Food Policy Council
Star Parsamyan	Education/Legislative Deputy for Councilmember Mitch O'Farrell, 13th District Los Angeles
Tony Arranaga	Communications Director for Councilmember Mitch O'Farrell, 13th District Los Angeles
Harout Semerdjian	Legislative Deputy for Councilmember Mitch O'Farrell, 13th District Los Angeles
Michael Roberts	Farmer and Farm Manager at McGrath Family Farm
Karen Rosales	Purchasing Supervisor at Gold Star Foods
Emily McKay	Buyer at Gold Star Foods
Angela Miramontes	Gold Star Foods
Haan-Fawn Chau	Special Projects Manager at Los Angeles Food Policy Council
Clare Fox	Director of Policy and Innovation at Los Angeles Food Policy Council
Anisha Hingorani	Network & Communications Coordinator at Los Angeles Food Policy Council
Jackie Sauceda-Rivera	Chair of Farmers Markets for All Working Group at Los Angeles Food Policy Council
Robert Gottlieb	Leadership and Advisory Board at Los Angeles Food Policy Council and Executive Director at and Founder of Urban & Environmental Policy Institute at Occidental College
Mary Lee	Leadership and Advisory Board at Los Angeles Food Policy Council and Deputy Director at PolicyLink
Rachel Surls	Leadership and Advisory Board at Los Angeles Food Policy Council and Sustainable Food Systems Advisor at UC Cooperative Extension, Los Angeles County
Anthony Holland	Political Consultant in Los Angeles

Education – The key to good food?

Malnourishment, food insecurity, food swamps and obesity. These are only a few of the detrimental effects of the current food system, a product of industrialization and path dependence within unsustainable practices. As sustainability issues in general, the inherent complexity that the Los Angeles food system is characterized by requires collective action by stakeholders from across the public, private and community sectors. A paradigm shift where sustainably produced, high quality food is both supplied and demanded is essential for the development of a sustainable food system; one where healthy and affordable food is accessible to all societies' communities. A sustainable food system is not unobtainable. It does however require dedication and participation of all stakeholders.

By Louise Klintner & Johan Fred

The Los Angeles Food Policy Council or "the LAFPC" is a non-governmental organization that works effectively with initiatives to address food system issues in the Southern California region. An example of such an initiative is the Good Food Procurement Policy (GFPP), which can be regarded as one of the most comprehensive and successful food procurement policies in the United States and the policy is already being adopted by other cities such as New York, San Francisco and Philadelphia. The GFPP signifies an important milestone in the development of a sustainable food system, more importantly, educating stakeholders.

In order to create a better understanding of how the LAFPC work with policy adaption, what barriers they encounter and how they break through them, we will examine the LAFPC's work on coordinating actors committing to the policy through a step-by-step process in which knowledge sharing is vital at virtually every stage, and on every different level, and bring insights in to the NGO's work towards the development of a sustainable food system.

The first step of the process can, for illustration purposes, but not necessarily in practice, be regarded as the realization of an organization's dependence upon others in

addressing the issues in the food system and more specifically those issues that they can address, as they possess a lack of knowledge and/or another barrier to coordination that is implied, lack of prior experience. This is the point where an institution contacts the LAPFC to initiate a partnership in order to address the issues in their own procurement practices. At this stage common goals and values, and thus culture are established through knowledge sharing by the LAFPC when educating the institution in question about the potential issues in their supply chain and the values that need to be taken into consideration in order to address them.

This is one of the main missions carried out actively by the LAFPC and is enabled through the next step, namely for the institutions to share their purchasing information with the LAFPC. In order for this to occur, the LAFPC needs to have established a trusting relationship with the institutions, which thus facilitates coordination of the institution. What are described as significant barriers to creating this relationship however are structural rigidities in organizations, such bureaucracy, as well as lack of understanding of the benefits interdependencies of collaborating with the LAFPC. Creating an understanding by sharing knowledge and thus educating the departments however caused them to cooperate and is hence regarded as a facilitator for the LAFPC to coordinate actors committed to the policy.

After having gained access to institutions' purchasing information, the LAFPC is able to analyze it through the use of a vast database of suppliers that are rated in accordance with their compliance with the five values of the GFPP. A barrier that is identified as a challenge at this stage is the difficulty of attaining the information for that analysis to occur, as there is limited transparency in the current food system. A lack of transparency can thus be identified as a barrier to the LAFPC's ability to share information and thus coordinate. This lack of transparency can further be associated with a lack of education, or experience, on the supply chain members' behalf, regarding how to create transparency through for instance monitoring practices within their respective organizations. Therefore, monitoring is a factor that can be regarded as a facilitator to the LAFPC's ability to share information and thus coordinate actors in the GFPP.

The next step in the process is for the institutions to source information on how to monitor their purchasing practices, which is a matter that the LAFPC assists with through organizing events that they call networking meetings, at which various actors can network and convene on matters such as how to create transparency in the supply chain. Hence, knowledge and experience sharing is, again vital in order for actors to be coordinated. Furthermore, the fact that all the different links in the supply chain play a role is an example of the different levels on which education is required in the entire food system, in order for sustainability issues in the food system to be addressed.

When having established how institutions are to go about monitoring their supply chain practices, the subsequent step entails creating contracts that provide clear guidelines and regulations regarding actors' compliance with the GFPP. Contracts thus play a central role in enabling the process of coordinating actors, and active contracts that are not complacent with the GFPP often signify

The five values of the LAFPC

- Local economy
- > Environmental sustainability
- ➤ Valued workforce
- ➤ Animal welfare
- ➤ Nutritional health

barriers to creating new contracts that are complacent, and thus negatively impact the LAFPC's ability to coordinate actors by delaying the coordination activities. Furthermore, another aspect that facilitates efficient contract writing is developing clear and standardized language that is included in the contracts as well as the RFPs that lead up to the contracts.

Through signing contracts with appropriate language purchase to sustainably grown food the creation of a supply of such food is stimulated throughout the supply chain and the industry, which entails the next step in the process of coordinating actors toward shifting the paradigm of the current food system and thus developing a sustainable one. This is especially vital, as no matter how much demand is created; the fact that a supply does not yet exist is evidently a significant barrier to creating that paradigm shift.

A challenge that is apparent in this stage is farmers', but also general, lack of knowledge and experience within sustainable farming when responding to the market pressures of institutions demanding higher quality food. The industrialization that has shaped the current food system has caused

major difficulties for producers who attempt to discontinue their unsustainable farming practices, due to factors such as path dependence that imply opportunity costs in terms of experience and knowledge of more sustainable farming practices such as organic farming. Although producers may possess knowledge and experience of for example organic farming, there are nonetheless significant barriers that serve as challenges to competing with conventional farming, which is a requirement for creating a supply of sustainably produced food. These challenges include for instance a lack of knowledge and experience regarding methods that enable organic farming on a large scale, as current methods prove inefficient, as issues of e.g. weeding and pests are more difficult to control without using synthetic chemicals other than on small farms, especially when there are financial restraints in terms of affording higher labor costs.

Due to the elimination of the use of synthetic chemicals, which enables more efficient farming, organic farming requires more manual labor, which in turn implies higher costs that for conventional farmers. Higher costs imply higher prices for the end consumer, if the farm is to stay economically viable, which entails that the products are not as competitive on a price basis, which is a barrier to increasing the demand of sustainably grown food. This is especially the case when consumers are used to purchasing cheap food. Hence, higher prices of sustainably grown food and the public perception of food being cheap are two factors that serve as barriers to increasing the of sustainably grown demand Educating the public on the benefits of purchasing and consuming sustainably produced food is however as previously mentioned, identified as a factor that to a certain extent can circumvent these barriers.

The final step in the process, although this step permeates the entire process, is thus educating the public in order to further stimulate the demand for sustainably produced food. This step is vital for the

GFPP for example in the sense that the more individuals that are educated about the issues involved purchasing conventionally in produced food and the benefits purchasing sustainably produced, the greater the likelihood that more organizations will realize the food system issues as well as the interdependencies of addressing them, which will further improve the prospects of shifting the paradigm of the current food system and developing a sustainable one.

In conclusion, the lessons that can be learned from the LAFPC are lessons of knowledge sharing. The food system is a complex phenomenon and in order to make an impact on its development, people, organizations, governments, communities, all stakeholders in the food system must grasp the vastness of the problem and the urgency of the situation. One of the solutions to changing the system relies on educating stakeholders and knowledge sharing about the complexity of the problem, the barriers related to it and how to circumvent them. The LAFPC does just that, and they are good at it too!

Louise Klintner Johan Fred 2015-05-18